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• Completed successful transition from 
gold explorer to producer

• Poured first gold at Andy Well Gold Project 
(August 2013) 

• Mines Minister officially opened 
Andy Well Gold Project (November 2013)

• Became one of Australia’s lowest-cost, 
highest-grade and highest margin 
gold producers 

• Met first year production and  
cost guidance for Andy Well 

• Produced 76,785oz at 10.8g/t head grade 
and achieved some of the lowest costs in 
Australia with cash cost of A$522/oz and 
all-in sustaining cost of A$1,044/oz 

• Continued to over reconcile on  
ounces recovered at Wilber Lode

• Consistently achieved very high gravity  
and total recoveries 

• Ramped-up exploration at Andy Well  
and regional projects

• Replaced first year production from the 
Wilber Lode underground mine with the 
maiden high-grade Judy Lode Reserve  

• Extended the high-grade Wilber Lode  
at depth with diamond drilling

• Discovered 3rd high-grade gold deposit  
at Andy Well; the Suzie Zone

• Entered into a farm-in agreement JV with 
Alloy Resources at the Horse Well project  
in north-eastern goldfields of WA

• Appointed new Chief Financial Officer,  
Mr Jon Latto
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• $110.6M revenue in 1st year of production

• $1,506/oz average gold price and  
$462/oz average margin 

• $57.8M cash flow from operations 

• $23.5M underlying net profit 

• $21.M in cash and gold after debt 
repayments/reserving of $41M

• Reduced debt by 75% to $13.9M from 
strong cash flows

• Improved access to cash flow by 
rescheduling debt repayments
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Dear Fellow Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Doray Minerals Ltd, it 
is my pleasure to present the 2014 Annual Report.

In August last year, your Company poured gold for the first 
time at the Andy Well Gold Project, completing the 
Company’s transition from explorer and developer to gold 
producer. I am now pleased to report that quarterly 
production figures over the past twelve months confirmed 
Doray as one of Australia’s highest grade, lowest cost and 
highest margin gold producers for 2013-14.

The Company delivered against its first year production 
and cost guidance at Andy Well with 76,785 ounces 
produced at a head grade of 10.8g/t gold with a cash 
operating cost of A$522 per ounce and an All In Sustaining 
Cost of A$1,044 per ounce, a very creditable achievement 
for a company in its first year of production. These are 
significant achievements for Doray and a credit to all who 
have worked on the Project.

The high margins generated in the first year enabled Doray 
to significantly reduce its project debt (by 75%), putting the 
Company in a strong financial position moving into the 
second year of production with only $13.9M of the original 
project debt remaining.

The Minister for Mines, Mr Bill Marmion MLA, officially 
opened the Andy Well Gold Project in November 2013 at an 
event held on-site and attended by politicians, Meekatharra 
shire members, native title holders, investors, brokers, 
media, contractors, consultants and staff. The event was  
a celebration of all that was involved and achieved in 
establishing the Project and commencing production, and 
also harnessed the shared optimism for the ongoing success 
of the Company.

The celebration would not have been possible without the 
exceptional leadership and direction of Directors Allan Kelly 
and Heath Hellewell, who both had the foresight, drive and 
skills to build a dedicated team that could attain the goal of 
developing a mine, processing plant and production facility. 
I must note here that Allan and Heath received the coveted 
2014 AMEC Prospector of the Year Award for their 
discovery of the Wilber Lode. This was well-deserved and 
we congratulate them on this personal achievement.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity 
to also thank Allan and Heath and their dedicated team for 
all their hard work and perseverance during the past twelve 
months. While Heath has now resigned from the Company 
and the Board, I would like to recognise his important and 
valued contributions to the Company as a founder and 
Director, and wish him well in his future endeavours.

Exploration remained an important focus throughout the 
year and your Company discovered two additional parallel 
high-grade zones, Suzie and Kirsty, which have the potential 
to add to the mine life at Andy Well. Your Company recently 
announced an increase to the Judy Lode Mineral Resource 
and a maiden high-grade Judy Ore Reserve which effectively 
replaces the reserve depletion from the first year of mining.

Doray’s exploration program also includes joint venture or 
acquisition opportunities with potential to add high-grade 
ore sources for Andy Well in the near future. With this in 
mind, Doray entered into a joint venture farm-in agreement 
with Alloy Resources Ltd at the Horse Well Project and 
acquired the highly prospective Gnaweeda Project in the 
northern Murchison.

While an incredible amount has been achieved over the 
past year, the Company’s share price did not always reflect 
those successes. The reduction in the Australian gold price 
and unstable market conditions were significant factors in 
the fluctuating share price. Your Company endeavours to 
stabilise and increase the share price and drive value for 
all shareholders.

Safety on site is a priority at all times and I would like to 
commend everyone for remaining focused on this critical 
aspect throughout the year. 

Doray is now focused on meeting production targets at Andy 
Well, delivering strong financial results and accelerating 
exploration during 2015. The Company is sufficiently funded for 
future exploration programs and poised to take advantage of 
current market conditions. Doray therefore offers unmatched 
leverage to increasing gold price, additional extensions to mine 
life at Andy Well, and further exploration success. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Allan, the Board, 
management team and contractors, for their efforts over the 
past twelve months and thank shareholders for their ongoing 
support. I look forward to another outstanding year ahead.

Yours sincerely,

Peter Alexander  
Non-Executive Chairman
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Dear Shareholder,

Doray Minerals has again achieved a tremendous amount 
during the last 12 months, a landmark year in the short 
history of our Company. 

During the 2014 Financial Year, the Company successfully 
completed the transition from explorer and developer to 
high-margin gold producer at the Andy Well Gold Project. 
Since the first gold pour in August 2013, Doray has delivered 
positive financial results and was one of Australia’s lowest-
cost, highest-grade and highest-margin producers on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.

Importantly, the Company met the first year production and 
cost guidance with 76,785 ounces produced at a head 
grade of 10.8 grams per tonne gold, an average cash cost 
of $522 per ounce and average all in sustaining cost of 
$1,044 per ounce.

Revenue from gold sales was $110.3 million, average price 
received was $1,506 per ounce, and average margin was 
$462 per ounce for 2014FY. 

These outstanding results reflect the hard work undertaken by 
our dedicated teams both on site and in the corporate office. 

The strong financial results enabled the Company to 
significantly reduce debt to $13.9 million, which equates to an 
approximate 75 percent reduction, with $41.1 million repaid 
or reserved since August 2013. 

Doray’s hedging program helped attain the high margins, 
especially considering the unstable gold price. Doray hedged 
45,000 ounces at A$1,620 per ounce to September 2014 
and 39,651 ounces at A$1,505 per ounce between October 
2014 and September 2015; with 45 percent of production 
hedged at A$1,547 per ounce between July 2014 and 
September 2015. The hedging program somewhat insulated 
Doray from the fluctuating gold price and helps ensure a 
consistent price going forward.

While Doray remains in a sound financial position, the 
Company’s share price did not fully reflect the various 
achievements during the period. The falling gold price and 
weak market sentiment were factors which hindered greater 
price gains. I believe a continued focus on meeting 
production and cost guidance, along with further success in 
exploration, should see a positive shift for our investors.

Exploration remains a strong focus for Doray in the 2015 
financial year. Drilling throughout the past twelve months 
resulted in discovery of the Suzie Zone deposit, a third 
high-grade gold deposit at Andy Well, parallel to the Wilber 
Lode. The Company also confirmed potential for the Wilber 
Lode to continue at significant depth below the current mine 
plan, and identified other potential lodes. Additionally, a 
maiden Reserve for the Judy Lode was recently announced, 
replacing the first year production from Wilber.

Doray’s exploration strategy in Western Australia has a multi-
pronged approach. There remains a strong focus on the 
Andy Well Gold Project and developing a significant gold 
camp in the project area. The strategy also aims to build a 

footprint of projects within trucking distance of the Andy 
Well processing plant and includes acquisition and joint 
venture opportunities into quality gold projects. 

The $17 million capital raising in February aimed to 
accelerate near mine and regional exploration, and assisted 
in acquiring the highly prospective Gnaweeda Project, which 
has the potential to add value to the Andy Well Gold Project 
in the near term. It also helped the Company participate in a 
joint venture project with Alloy Resources Limited at the 
Horse Well project in the north eastern Goldfields of Western 
Australia.

Ongoing exploration aims to further increase the life of mine 
at the Andy Well Gold Project and the Company is confident 
it will achieve success in this area during 2015FY, creating 
further value for all shareholders.

In 2014, Doray, along with a number of peer gold industry 
companies, partnered with the Gold Royalty Response 
Group (GRRG), which was established to represent the 
interests of WA gold producers in response to the State 
Government’s mineral royalty review. As a managing director 
in the sector, I represented the Company and industry as a 
spokesperson for the GRRG and participated in strategy 
development, government lobbying, and education programs 
to help protect the industry as a whole, our employees, and 
the communities in which we operate, from the financial risk 
of being subjected to additional or increased royalties. A 
decision by Government is expected at the end of 2014.

During the year, Doray’s co-founder and Director, Mr Heath 
Hellewell, resigned from the Company. I would like to 
acknowledge his enormous contribution in establishing the 
Company, his contribution to discovery of the Wilber Lode 
and progressing the Andy Well Gold Project through 
development. In addition to these great achievements, both 
Heath and I jointly received the 2014 AMEC Prospector of 
the Year Award for the discovery of the Wilber Lode and 
ongoing discoveries at Andy Well. While a great personal 
achievement for both Heath and myself, it is also recognition 
of Doray Minerals’ success to date, which I am confident will 
continue. 

I would also like to thank Doray’s non-executive Chairman 
Peter Alexander and other Board members, the 
management team, shareholders, employees, contractors, 
and suppliers who have contributed to our achievements 
during the year. The Company is well-positioned for ongoing 
production and exploration success and further growth as a 
high-grade gold producer.

Yours sincerely,

Allan Kelly 
Managing Director
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NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Peter Alexander

ASS APPL Geol

Mr Alexander is a geologist by 
profession and has over 30 years’ 
experience in mineral exploration and 
mining in Australia and overseas. Mr 
Alexander was Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of Dominion 
Mining Ltd from 1997 until his 
retirement in January 2008, at which 
time he continued as a Non-Executive 
Director until the takeover by 
Kingsgate Consolidated in 2010. 

Mr Alexander managed the start-up 
and operation of Dominion’s 
Challenger gold mine in South 
Australia and, under Peter’s 
management, Dominion won the Gold 
Mining Journal’s “Gold Miner of the 
Year” three years in succession.

MANAGING  
DIRECTOR

Allan Kelly

BSc (Hons), Grad Cert Bus, FAAG, MAIG

Allan graduated from Curtin University 
of Technology with an honours degree 
in geology in 1994 and has over 20 
years’ experience in mineral exploration 
geology, geochemistry and project 
management throughout Australia and 
the Americas, as well as general 
management experience in the 
resources, tourism, manufacturing and 
hospitality sectors.

Prior to successfully listing Doray 
Minerals Ltd in February 2010 as the 
founding Managing Director and major 
shareholder, Allan was directly involved 
in the targeting and early stage 
exploration of a number of gold, nickel, 
IOCG and uranium properties 
throughout Australia, Alaska and 
Canada and previously held senior 
exploration positions with WMC and 
Avoca Resources Ltd from its inception 
in 2002.

Under Allan’s leadership, Doray 
Minerals Ltd was recognised as the 
most successful IPO of 2010, was 
named “Gold Explorer of the Year” by 
the Gold Mining Journal in 2011 and 
has progressed its high grade Andy 
Well Gold Project from discovery to 
mining and eventual production in just 
over three years.

Allan was awarded the Association of 
Mining and Exploration Companies 
“Prospector Award” in 2014 for the 
discovery of the high-grade Wilber 
Lode gold deposit at Andy Well. He is 
a Councillor of the Association of 
Mining and Exploration Companies 
(AMEC), a Fellow and former 
Councillor of the Association of 
Applied Geochemistry (AAG), and a 
member of the Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists (AIG).
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NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR 

Jay Stephenson

MBA, FCPA, CMA, FCIS, MAICD

Mr Stephenson has been involved in 
business development for over 20 
years including approximately 17 
years as Director, Chief Financial 
Officer and Company Secretary for 
various listed and unlisted entities in 
resources, manufacturing, wine, hotels 
and property. He has been involved in 
business acquisitions, mergers, initial 
public offerings, capital raisings, 
business restructuring as well 
managing all areas of finance for 
companies.

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Leigh Junk 

Dip Surv, GDip Min Eng, MSc Min Econ

Mr Junk is a mining engineer with 20 
years’ experience. He was the 
executive responsible for project 
evaluation, feasibility studies, 
production scheduling and mine 
design with several mining companies 
throughout Western Australia, 
including Pilbara Manganese Pty Ltd, 
WMC Resources Ltd. and Mincor 
Operations Pty Ltd. He started his 
own mining company Donegal 
Resources with his brother Ian in 
2000 and was successful at 
purchasing and recommissioning 
several Nickel operations in 
Kambalda W.A. 

Mr Junk was recipient of the 
“Goldfields Business of the Year 
Award” in 2003 for Donegal 
Resources and the 2003 Ernst & 
Young “Young Entrepreneur of the 
Year Award”. 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR 
Peter Lester

BEng (Mining – Hons), MAICD, MAusIMM

 Peter is a mining engineer with 40 
years experience in the mining industry 
in various roles. These include 
construction, project and mine 
management, corporate and financial 
advisory services and in business 
development roles with responsibility 
for strategic planning and corporate 
development. After 11 years at Mt Isa, 
Peter held operating positions at 
Phosphate Hill and was Construction 
Manager for ore handling upgrades at 
Broken Hill. A period of stock broking 
followed before he then moved to 
senior executive positions with North 
Ltd, Newcrest Mining Limited, Oxiana / 
OZ Minerals Limited and most recently 
with Citadel Resources Group Ltd as 
an Executive Director. In the latter 
three roles, Peter’s focus was on 
growth, including new project 
assessment, capital raising, 
acquisitions, mergers (including 
divestments and IPO’s) and corporate 
defence. Peter is currently a company 
director on several mining boards.

Peter is currently a non-executive 
Director of Nord Gold NV, White Rock 
Minerals Ltd, Chesser Resources Ltd, 
Toro Energy Ltd and Accessio 
Resources Pty Ltd.
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OVERVIEW

ANDY WELL GOLD PROJECT
The Group commenced first gold production in August 2013, 
having completed the Stage 1 Open Pit and commissioning 
of the processing plant, approximately 3.5 years after the 
initial discovery of the very high-grade “Wilber Lode” gold 
deposit at the Andy Well Gold Project (“Andy Well”, “Project”) 
in the northern Murchison region of Western Australia. 

The Andy Well Gold Project was officially opened by the 
Mines Minister, Hon. Bill Marmion MLA, on 27 November 2013. 

The Andy Well Gold Project is located approximately 45km 
north of Meekatharra, in the northern Murchison region of 
Western Australia and is the first new gold operation in the 
Murchison in over 10 years. Doray commenced mining and 
site works in November 2012 with first gold production in 
August 2013, approximately 3.5 years after the initial 
discovery of the high-grade Wilber Lode gold deposit in 
March 2010.

The Company targeted production in the order of 75,000 
ounces from Wilber in the current financial year and 
achieved this by producing 76,785 ounces. 

Cash operating costs (C1) for the full year were A$522/oz. 
The average All-In Sustaining Cost (AISC) for the 2013-14 
financial year was A$1,044/oz compared with an average 
gold price received of A$1,506/oz, resulting in an average 
margin of approximately A$462/oz across the 76,785 
ounces produced.

The Company also discovered additional high-grade lodes 
(Judy and Suzie), providing confidence that the Project will 
surpass the initial 3.7 year mine life indicated in the Bankable 
Feasibility Study (“BFS”).

Safety

One lost time injury occurred from a surface diamond driller 
in September 2013. No Lost Time Injuries (“LTI”) have 
occurred during the entire construction period and within the 
direct mining areas resulting in 295 consecutive days without 
an LTI at the Andy Well site by the end of the year. Only 
minor work related incidents were experienced which did not 
incur serious injury. 

The site plan layout was designed to separate the three 
activity areas comprising the treatment plant, the open pit 
and administration block with other buildings. Footprints for 
the three areas are minimised and as much existing 
vegetation as possible remains between the mine and the 
adjacent Great Northern Highway.

A number of personnel participated in Mines Rescue Team 
training and the Department of Minerals and Petroleum 
(“DMP”) carried out a Safety and Inspection Audit to 
complement safety procedures put in place at the start of 
the Project.

WILBER LODE MINING

Open Pit Mining

During the year the Company completed the Stage 1 Open 
Pit and has progressed with underground development and 
stoping to both northern and southern panels of the Wilber 
Lode, as well as preparing for mining of the Stage 2 Open Pit 
cut-back during the 2015 financial year. 

A total of 36,000 tonnes of ore at 12.0g/t and a further 
12,000 tonnes at 2.0g/t were stockpiled from the Stage 1 Open 
Pit. A further 1,000oz was contained within low grade material. 
Recovery of gold exceeded the BFS open pit Reserves and 
with some low grade remaining, a total of 17,700oz has been 
recovered from the open pit against Reserves of 15,800oz.

Waste material was used for construction of the ROM pad, 
tailings storage facility, processing plant pad and site 
access roads.

Gold Reconciliation from Underground Mining

Gold mined from the first eight completed level development 
drives, finalised during the year, within the Wilber northern 
panel over-reconciled against Reserve estimates of gold by 11%. 

By year’s end, 64 vertical metres below the open pit down to 
1355 level had been stoped and totally extracted in the 
northern area of Wilber lode. The volume of gold recovered 
from this area in total over-reconciled by 5% more than 
contained within Reserves.

These results confirmed the Reserves model underestimate 
of contained gold ounces recovered from Stage 1 Open Pit.

Development

Development advanced as scheduled, driving the northern 
(“Wilber”) decline down to the 1195 level, approximately 285 
metres vertically below surface. Capital development has 
included access cross-cuts to the main quartz lode with 
associated infrastructure of ventilation and escape raises, pump 
and electrical sub-stations as well as completing two connecting 
declines to the southern panel of the Wilber orebody (Figure 1). 

Horizontal ore drives in the northern area were completed 
down to the 1295 level and have progressed to four levels 
between the 1275 and 1215 levels. The Wilber Lode was 
present as both single and multiple laminated quartz veins 
with a rich high-grade hanging wall lode also partially 
overlapping the Wilber Lode as the mine deepened.

The “Middle” decline accessing the southern panel of the 
Wilber Lode developed vertically up to 1340RL and down to 
1200RL approaching the 1197RL access cross-cut. 
Development advanced both the 1337 and 1317 level 
cross-cuts intersecting the Wilber Lode south of the central 
Proterozoic dolerite dyke.

The increased number of areas underground available to 
supply ore from both development and stoping allows 
flexibility for ore extraction during the next financial year.
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Figure 1. Wilber Lode underground progress as at end of June 2014, showing completion of the twin drives to the Middle decline and initial 
development of the southern panel of Wilber lode

Table 1. Summary of mine physicals for the financial year

Units Sept Qtr Dec Qtr Mar Qtr June Qtr FY14 FY14 (Incl. Open Pit) 

Underground Ore Mined t 21,316 39,374 57,621 65,263 183,574 233,549

Underground Ore Grade g/t 14.0 11.7 10.6 8.8 10.6 10.7

Contained gold oz 9,604 14,783 19,706 18,481 62,574 80,351

Table 2. Summary of Production for FY 2014

Units Sept Qtr1 Dec Qtr Mar Qtr June Qtr FY

Ore processed tonnes 35,391 57,663 61,514 67,201 225,433

Head grade g/t 12.30 13.09 10.32 8.81 10.78

Recovery % 98.0 99.0 98.9 98.7 98.7

Gold recovered oz 13,718 24,026 20,193 18,782 77,107

GIC change oz 227 (136) 139 320 320

Gold produced oz 13,4912 24,162 20,054 18,767 76,785

Cash Operating Costs A$M 6.89 10.82 10.69 11.56 39.95

Cash Operating Cost (C1)3 A$/oz 510 448 533 616 522

Depreciation/Amortisation A$M 3.9 7.5 11.8 13.5 36.7

C2 Cost A$/oz 800 760 1,122 1,336 1,003

Total Production Costs A$M 11.9 20.5 24.1 26.6 83.1

Total Cost (C3)4 A$/oz 880 847 1,205 1,417 1,086

All-in Sustaining Cost (AISC)5 A$/oz 971 949 1,078 1,181 1,044

Gold sold oz 10,277 25,719 17,274 19,936 73,208

Revenue from gold sales A$M 15.9 37.9 26.5 30.0 110.3

Average price received A$/oz 1,548 1,472 1,533 1,504 1,506

Average margin A$/oz 462
1 Aug-Sept only
2 An additional 311 ounces were produced from 3,664 tonnes in July, during the project commissioning phase
3 Includes mining, processing, site admin and refining costs less silver credits
4 Includes depreciation and amortisation of mining development, royalties, net bank charges and attributable corporate costs
5 As per World Gold Council guidelines
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Stoping

The density of foliations and structures on both sides of the ore 
lode caused more dilution than anticipated during stoping. 
Various methods of ground support were trialled during the 
year to minimise dilution. Where required, benching under 
development drives which were subsequently infilled to form 
cemented rock fill sill pillars proved the most successful. The 
most effective method to minimise these mining costs continues 
to be evaluated. The capacity within the processing plant, 
additional to plant design, allows flexibility for more tonnes to 
be treated if necessary to achieve planned production.

Underground Grade Control 

Underground grade control diamond drilling identified a 
hanging wall lode which is being mined. The Wilber Lode 
south of the central dolerite dyke was also confirmed by 
underground grade control. 

By the end of the year, drilling was in progress targeting the 
Wilber Lode northern panel below the 1235RL down to 1190RL.

GOLD PRODUCTION

Processing Plant Construction and Commissioning

The construction and commissioning of the gravity and Carbon 
in Pulp/Carbon in Leach (“CIP/CIL”) processing plant was 
completed with practical completion achieved on 29 July 2013. 
This milestone was achieved by the Engineering, Procurement 
and Construction (“EPC”) contractor, GR Engineering Services 
Limited, under budget and ahead of schedule. 

The new purpose-built plant is a conventional CIP/CIL gold 
processing plant designed to treat up to 30 tonnes of 
primary underground ore per hour. The plant comprises a 
primary and secondary cone crusher, a fine ore bin with 
emergency overspill allowing the mill to be fed if the fine ore 
bin is empty, a 500kW ball mill manufactured and imported 
from Turkey, a gravity circuit comprising two Knelson 
concentrators, a leaching circuit comprising one leach and 
six adsorption tanks, an Acacia reactor and electrowin cells, 
prior to calcining and smelting to produce doré on site.

During the year the processing plant was debottlenecked and 
proved capable of being operated up to a sustainable 38 
tonnes per hour. This capacity is sufficient to treat more tonnes 
if required to ensure that gold production can be achieved 
even if the geometry of the narrow high grade orebody varies 
in width and so dictates more dilution during stoping. 

Improvements in operating the plant continued up to 40t/hr 
without any additional capital or labour required. This 
allowed the throughput rate to be varied to suit the grade of 
ore supplied from underground.

A total of 76,785oz of gold was recovered during the year 
with very high gravity recoveries averaging approximately 
77% for the year in total within an average yearly total gold 
recovery of 98.7%. A further 320oz was contained as gold in 
circuit (GIC) along with ROM and emergency stockpiles 
containing over 1,100oz at the end of the financial year.

Consumption of power and consumables during the year 
was below budget.

Environment

All regulatory approvals were received from the Department 
of Environmental Regulation, Department of Health and 
Department of Water.

The borefield water at the Andy Well minesite is of 
reasonable quality which allowed environmental approval 
for discharge of any surplus water onto the ground surface.

Initial databases of flora and fauna and water quality were 
established along with procedures to monitor the effects of 
mining and infrastructure. Criteria for monitoring were all 
accepted by the regulatory authorities including bores to 
monitor continuing groundwater quality around the tailings 
storage facility.

A contract agreement previously agreed with a local 
pastoralist developed into a mutually advantageous 
partnership whereby their personnel carried out some site 
infrastructure work. 

Heritage

Areas within the mining lease of aboriginal heritage interest 
were cleared in agreement with the Native Title claimants 
and regulatory authority. Some significant heritage areas 
remain undisturbed but these areas are not close to the high 
activity areas of the mine.

As outlined within the Native Title Agreement, discussions were 
initiated for Native Title claimants to provide cross-cultural 
awareness presentations on site. Discussions were also 
initiated with a local indigenous service company to help with 
liaison during future discussions with Native Title claimants.

Accommodation Village

The workforce for the mine is accommodated within a new 
village comprising 126 en-suited rooms with recreational and 
living facilities located within the regional town of 
Meekatharra in order to support the facilities and local 
businesses within this regional centre of the mid-West.

CaterCare Services provide full catering and cleaning 
services at both the village and minesite. An air charter 
company, Ad Astral Aviation, operates four flights per week 
from Perth to ferry personnel to and from Meekatharra.
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Site Infrastructure

The earthworks and pads for the roads, plant and other 
buildings were constructed from appropriate waste rock 
mined from the open pit. This material was also used in 
forming the ROM pad and the tailings storage facility.

A site based laboratory comprising a PAL (pulverising and 
leaching sampler) machine, constructed to service mill and 
underground sampling, was commissioned early August 2013.

A 4.2MW power station, built on site by Kalgoorlie Power 
Systems (“KPS”) to coincide with plant commissioning to 
replace temporary generating sets, was completed on 1 
August 2013. Power for all site activities under this contract 
with KPS is sourced from this station with costs based upon 
monthly kWhr usage.

The tailings storage facility (“TSF”) was constructed under 
the supervision of Coffey International who were responsible 
for design, supervision and certification of the TSF. 
Additionally, surface ponds were constructed to provide 
water supplies for the treatment plant and mining.

The borefield was expanded during the year and comprises 
five bores to provide sufficient water for site. Potable water is 
supplied from a reverse osmosis plant. 

An IT communication system provides comprehensive 
interconnectivity between the project site, Meekatharra 
village and Perth office.

Production Guidance for FY2015

Doray expects production for 2015 financial year to be in the 
range of 77,000-83,000oz, including approximately 
14,000oz expected to be sourced from the Stage 2 Open Pit.

Cash Operating Costs (C1) for the same period are expected 
to be in the lower section of a range between A$700-800/oz. 

EXPLORATION AND NEW BUSINESS
Doray has an exploration tenement portfolio covering a total 
of approximately 4,000km2 in both Western Australia (WA) 
and South Australia (SA). In the northern Murchison Region 
of WA, Doray is actively exploring for gold mineralisation 
which has the potential to provide additional near-term 
development opportunities for the Andy Well Gold Project. 
The Company continues to explore for large, stand-alone 
development opportunities over its entire exploration 
portfolio in WA and SA.
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ANDY WELL EXPLORATION
Exploration at Andy Well was centred primarily on 
identifying and defining parallel gold bearing structures to 
the Wilber Lode, through targets identified in the footwall 
corridor. Work was completed on extending the Judy Lode at 
depth, on the first pass and follow-up testing of the Suzie 
Zone, and the testing of the “Footwall Corridor” target zone, 
including the drilling of a 1,000m horizontal diamond 
drillhole from underground to delineate the stratigraphy and 
confirm the structural interpretation of the zone. 

Judy Lode

Following the discovery of the Judy Lode during 2012, and 
delineation of the maiden Mineral Resource in 2013, drilling 
was carried out to extend the strike and depth extents of the 
high-grade mineralisation, with a view to extending the 
Resource area. 

At the Judy South Extension target, RC drilling targeted the 
strike potential on the southern side of the dolerite dyke that 
truncates the Judy Resource area. While this drilling was 
successful in intersecting the Judy structure, along with 
occasional quartz veining, assay results were generally 
disappointing, with only 2 minor intervals returned above 1g/t:
• MNRC221 – 1m @ 2.5g/t from 66-67m
• MNRC222 – 1m @ 2.1g/t from 35-36m

A series of RC and diamond drill tails were drilled during the 
year to test the down dip potential of the high-grade Judy 
South Resource (85koz @ 19.3g/t), with an additional RC 
pre-collar and diamond tail drilled within the previously 
defined Judy South Resource area to provide geotechnical 
and metallurgical data for future mining studies. All diamond 
tails were successful in intersecting the Judy target zone, 
with 8 of the 11 diamond tails intersecting the Judy quartz 
vein. The quartz vein, where intersected in the drilling, is a 
0.4-0.9m wide (true width) laminated vein, within sheared 
high-magnesium basalts, consistent with previous 
interpretations. Several cross-cutting dolerite dykes intersect 
the lode position. Best results returned from the extensional 
drilling include:
• MNDD135 - 0.9m @ 22.0g/t from 422.8m
• MNDD146 - 1.0m @ 5.0g/t from 487.8m

The mineralised intercepts returned point to grade “zoning” 
within the lode (see Figure 3), which is similar to that noted 
at the adjacent Wilber deposit. The results returned from this 
drilling appear to suggest a separate higher-grade zone at 
depth within the lode (MNDD134, MNDD135, MNDD146).

0m 100m
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June 2014 Mineral Resource area.
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Suzie Zone

The Suzie Zone was identified during 2013, through a 
targeting exercise involving all exploration data generated 
to date at Andy Well being compiled and re-analysed using 
the increased understanding gained from mining of the 
Wilber Lode Deposit. The Suzie Zone was the first of a series 
of targets, identified through this process, to be tested, 
expanding on the resource areas at Wilber and Judy. Suzie 
was tested by a series of RC drill holes and follow-up 
diamond drilling to a total depth of ~380m below surface. 
The initial phase of drilling was co-funded by the Western 
Australian State Government through an Exploration 
Incentive Scheme (EIS) Grant. Similar to Wilber and Judy, the 
Suzie Zone mineralisation appears to correspond to a 
discrete shear zone within high magnesium basalts and 
intrusive porphyry dykes, with a mineralised quartz vein 
contained within the larger shear zone (Figure 4). 

During the follow-up phase of RC drilling, hole MNRC265 
intersected the Suzie Zone structure at a depth of 
approximately 270m below surface. Significant, coarse, 
visible gold was present and the interval returned an assay 
of 3m @ 25.9g/t Au including 1m @ 58.8g/t Au. This hole 
represented a step out of over 150m below the deepest 
previous in the initial phase (Figure 5). 

Significant results returned from RC drilling during the 
year include:
• MNRC227 – 1m @ 12.9g/t Au from 102-103mdh
• MNRC228 – 4m @ 8.0g/t Au from 46-50mdh, including 

2m @ 14.8g/t from 47-49mdh
• MNRC234 – 2m @ 12.1g/t Au from 96-98mdh, including 

1m @ 21.0g/t from 97-98mdh
• MNRC265 – 3m @ 25.9g/t Au from 309-312mdh, including 

1m @ 58.8g/t Au
• MNRC268 – 1m @ 64.4g/t Au from 175-176mdh
• MNRC257 – 2m @ 11.1g/t Au from 154-156mdh, including 

1m @ 21.1g/t Au

Several of the RC holes also intersected what appears to be 
a small footwall lode of similar geological makeup to the 
Suzie Zone. This footwall zone is situated approximately 30m 
east of and below Suzie, and has been intersected over a 
strike length of approximately 60m. At this stage, the 
number of data points is insufficient to allow a confident 
interpretation to be made. 

Significant results returned from holes that intersected this 
footwall lode include:
• MNRC259 – 1m @ 11.8g/t Au from 125-126mdh
• MNRC266 – 1m @ 17.7g/t Au from 122-123mdh
• MNRC269 – 2m @ 10.4g/t Au from 128-130mdh, including 

1m @ 13.0g/t Au

Following the success of this RC drilling, a follow-up diamond 
drilling program was commenced to test the Suzie Zone at 
depth. A total of five holes were drilled, targeting nominal 
100m x 100m step-outs around the intersection in MNRC265 
(Figure 5). Whilst this drilling was completed during the year, 
assay results were still pending at years end. Geological 
logging of the drill core has confirmed that the targeted Suzie 
structure has been intersected in all five holes.

Footwall Corridor Stratigraphic Drilling

During the year, Doray completed drilling of a horizontal 
stratigraphic diamond drillhole from the 1395 level of the 
Wilber Lode underground mine. This hole was designed to 
provide information about both the stratigraphy of the 
footwall sequence to the Wilber deposit, as well as the 
structural framework that is interpreted to host other already 
identified parallel lodes – Judy and Suzie – and further 
near-mine exploration targets. The hole was drilled to a total 
length of 1001.6m, and was successful in intersecting all 
previously interpreted target structures. The hole was part 
funded by the WA State Government through the EIS. 

Assays from samples taken of these target zones confirmed 
the presence of high-grade gold mineralisation in the Suzie 
and Kirsty zones. Results included:
• 0.5m @ 59.0g/t Au from 451.6mdh 

(approx. 135m below surface) – Suzie Zone
• 0.8m @ 16.7g/t Au from 819.9mdh 

(approx. 135m below surface) – Kirsty Zone

These intersections are significant in that they confirm, not 
only the persistence of these structures over an interpreted 
850m-1000m long corridor in the footwall of the nearby 
Wilber and Judy deposits, consistent with Doray’s target 
model, but also the presence of significant gold mineralization 
(see Figure 6). 

Andy Well Target Generation

During the year, a significant sub-audio magnetic (SAM) 
survey - a surface geophysical technique which has 
previously been successful in identifying various structures at 
Andy Well - was completed over a large portion of the Andy 
Well mining lease and adjacent exploration lease. The results 
of this survey, coupled with an increased understanding of 
geology and controls to mineralisation from mining 
operations and an ongoing CSIRO research project on the 
Andy Well deposits, have allowed for generation of a 
significant “pipeline” of targets within 5km of the Andy Well 
processing plant (see Figure 7). These targets include areas 
completely untested by previous drilling such as the 
“Southern Zone” and the “Sediment Contact”, and illustrate 
the significant exploration potential evident in the project. 

While much of the drilling undertaken by Doray to date has 
been focussed on the Wilber deposit and the immediate 
surrounds, this target generation exercise will allow drill 
testing of new targets over the coming budget year in 
conjunction with follow-up drilling on established advanced 
prospects and Resource areas, which should facilitate a 
sustainable Reserve replacement strategy over the life-of-mine.D
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Resource and Reserve Re-calculation

During the year, updated Mineral Resources were estimated 
for both the Wilber and Judy Lodes at Andy Well. These 
re-estimations were based on revised interpretations due to 
a greater understanding of the geology since mining 
commenced, and utilized all new data generated since the 
previous estimates. The Wilber Lode was also depleted for 
mining activity during the year. The revised estimates as at 
the 30th June 2014 are summarised in Table 3. The net 
result of the revised Mineral Resources for Andy Well is that 
all Resources depleted during the year due to mining 
activities have been replaced.

Following on from the re-estimation of the Wilber and Judy 
Mineral Resources, an initial Ore Reserve was calculated 
for Judy, and the Ore Reserve for Wilber updated. These 
Reserves were based on operating parameters 
encountered and up to date mining costs. The revised Ore 
Reserves as at the 30th June 2014 are summarised in 
Table 4 below. The net result of the revision to the Ore 
Reserves is that the addition of Reserves at Judy has 
essentially replaced those depleted by underground mining 
during the year, while Andy Well produced 76,785ozs, 
Reserves were decreased by only 29,000ozs.

Table 3. Andy Well Mineral Resource Inventory – 30th June 2014

Measured Indicated Inferred Total

Tonnes
Grade 

(g/t) Ounces Tonnes
Grade 

(g/t) Ounces Tonnes
Grade 

(g/t) Ounces Tonnes
Grade 

(g/t) Ounces

Andy Well - 
Wilber 89,000 23.2 67,000 369,000 15.1 179,000 203,000 10.5 68,000 662,000 14.8 314,000

Andy Well – 
Judy - - - 405,000 7.6 99,000 206,000 4.1 27,000 611,000 6.4 126,000

TOTAL 
ANDY WELL 
RESOURCE 89,000 23.2 67,000 774,000 11.2 277,000 409,000 7.3 95,000 1,273,000 10.8 440,000

Note: Wilber Lode reported above a 0.1g/t Au, Judy Lode reported above 0.0g/t Au. Upper cut-off grades vary, and are documented in 
JORC Table 1 (Wilber – see attached; Judy - see ASX release 6/8/2014). Rounding errors may occur. All Mineral Resources are inclusive of 
those used to determine Ore Reserves.

Table 4. Andy Well Ore Reserve Inventory – 30th June 2014

Proven Probable Total

Tonnes
Grade 

(g/t) Ounces Tonnes
Grade  

(g/t) Ounces Tonnes
Grade  

(g/t) Ounces

Wilber - Open Pit  
Stage 2 - - - 28,000 15.3 14,000 28,000 15.3 14,000

Wilber - Underground - - - 566,000 8.2 148,000 566,000 8.2 148,000

Judy – Underground - - - 203,000 8.8 58,000 203,000 8.8 58,000

TOTAL  
ANDY WELL RESERVE - - - 797,000 8.6 220,000 797,000 8.6 220,000

Note: Open Pit High Grade Reserves are based on a 1.4g/t Au lower cut-off grade. Rounding errors may occur.
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MURCHISON REGION EXPLORATION
The Group holds a strategic land position of almost 1,200km2 
of highly prospective mineral exploration properties within the 
world-class Murchison gold province in Western Australia. 
Doray’s primary focus, away from the development of the 
Andy Well Gold Project, continues to be on its substantial 
portfolio of projects that cover portions of the most 
significant, regional scale, mineralised structures in the 
Northern Murchison. 

During the year, Doray reprioritised its exploration activities 
to focus on the Northern Murchison tenement group. 

Northern Murchison Region

As part of Doray’s growth strategy, the Company is working 
to identify opportunities to define additional Mineral 
Resources within trucking distance of the Andy Well Gold 
Project processing plant. During the year, exploration 
activity continued on the Company’s projects in the 
Northern Murchison.

Abbotts (Doray 80%) and Abbotts West 
(Doray 100%)

The Abbotts Project is located 10km to the west of 
Meekatharra with Abbotts West contiguous to the west 
(acquired as part of the Caravel transaction) (Figure 8). 

Along with the completion of the HeliTEM survey and the 
regional surface geochemical programmes on Abbotts and 
the inclusion of the Abbotts West tenure, Doray, this year, 
completed a full review of all data from the entire combined 
project area. This led to the development of a series of 
regional scale targets that are currently being tested, largely 
beneath shallow cover, continuing into the next period. This 
drilling, totalling approximately 25,000m initially, will ensure 
that all areas, ignored by previous workers due to shallow 
cover, will be tested. 

Side Well (Doray 80%)

A full review of data from the Side Well Project was 
completed during this period leading to the project being 
downgraded as a high priority target. Whilst Side Well 
remains a target for the Company, exploration will continue 
on a prioritised basis with respect to the remainder of the 
Northern Murchison tenure.

South Murchison Region - (Webbs Patch, Magnet 
North, Lake Austin, Western Queen and Tuckanarra)

Doray’s increasing focus on its Northern Murchison Projects 
has led to the decision to relinquish its interests in all the 
Company’s Southern Murchison Projects outside the 100% 
owned Webbs Patch Project. 
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HORSE WELL JV (DORAY EARNING UP TO 80%)
Doray has entered into a farm-in agreement with Alloy 
Resources Limited (ASX: AYR) to earn up to an 80% interest 
over Alloy’s Horse Well Project in the Millrose Greenstone 
Belt, approximately 100km to the north-northeast of Wiluna 
in Western Australia. 

The Crack of Dawn target area, a region of extensive 
surface sand cover, is located approximately 15 kilometres 
north-west, along strike, from the Horse Well gold Resources 
(Figure 9). Crack of Dawn was discovered in the mid-1990’s 
following air-core drill testing of a major structural jog 
associated with a buried granitic intrusive, as indicated by 
aeromagnetic data.

Historic work completed by Eagle Mining in 1997 returned a best 
intercept at the Crack of Dawn Prospect of 11m @ 3.5 g/t Au 
(see AYR announcement 10 December 2012). 

Alloy subsequently confirmed the potential at Crack of Dawn 
in December 2012 by detailed, angled air-core drilling of two 
of the historical anomalies, followed by deeper RC drilling in 
the second half of 2013.

Widespread alteration zones associated with gold 
mineralisation at the Dusk til Dawn Prospect, approximately 
one kilometre north-west of Crack of Dawn, suggest the system 
has the potential to host a major gold Resource. Drilling 
completed by Alloy at the Dusk til Dawn Prospect returned a 
best interval of 30m @ 2.0 g/t Au (Figure 3) (see AYR 
announcements 15 October 2013 and 27 November 2013).

Recent analysis of the Dusk til Dawn gold alteration system 
highlights the scale and intensity of alteration within the 
entire Crack of Dawn target area. The key points from the 
study include:
• A zone of potassic alteration 100 to 200 metres thick 
• Greenschist-amphibolite metamorphic facies, with a biotite 

dominant system 
• Gold in highly sheared core zones 
• Pyrite replacement of Banded Iron Formation layers in 

dacitic volcaniclastics (magnetite destruction is a typical 
signature of gold mineralisation) 

• Several similarities to the >2 million ounce Granny Smith 
gold deposit in WA

This gold mineralised alteration is interpreted, from drilling 
and aeromagnetics, to suggest the 30km2 Crack of Dawn 
gold target area is highly prospective for a significant gold 
discovery. Detailed, recently completed aeromagnetic 
surveying of the area highlighted new targets and confirms 
the region as a compelling exploration opportunity. 

Alloy has completed all the permitting and heritage 
clearances for a major program of extension drilling and new 
target testing. Doray plans to complete this drilling program in 
the second half of CY 2014 as part of the first earn-in hurdle.

Farm-in Agreement Terms
The parties have entered into a binding Heads of 
Agreement, which will be more fully documented in a formal 
Farm-in Agreement. Key Terms agreed are listed below:
• $100k cash payment to Alloy at Commencement.
• $900k non-withdrawal expenditure within the first 12 

months of Commencement.
• The initial minimum commitment to be met completing 

an agreed program based upon the currently permitted 
and approved drilling program as presented for the 
Crack of Dawn region with follow-up as required.

• Doray to manage the JV with field input from Alloy for, at 
least, the initial minimum commitment period.

• Doray to earn an initial 60% with a further spend of $1 million 
within 24 months of Commencement (i.e. total spend of 
$2 million to earn 60%).

• Doray can elect to spend a further $2 million within 36 months 
of commencement to earn 80%. 
• Alloy at this time can elect to contribute pro rata to this 

$2M and continue through to Pre-Feasibility Study (PFS) 
or dilute to 20% using an industry standard formula, 
whereby Doray can earn up to 80%. 

Alloy to contribute from PFS onwards (i.e. Definitive Feasibility 
Study, Decision To Mine and operational JV) or dilute to 1% 
Net Smelter Royalty using an industry standard formula.

CENTRAL GAWLER, SOUTH AUSTRALIA
Doray holds a strategic land position of approximately 3,600km2 
(including applications) within the highly prospective Central 
Gawler region in South Australia, including 100% ownership 
of almost 100km of strike of the mineralised “Yarlbrinda Shear 
Zone”. The Yarlbrinda Shear Zone is a major gold endowed 
structure and hosts the Tunkillia gold deposit (0.8Moz Au, 
1.6Moz Ag). Tunkillia is located approximately 25km north of 
Doray’s exploration tenements.

Much of the portfolio of projects is located within the Central 
Gawler Gold Province, an arcuate zone of Proterozoic aged 
gold deposits and prospects identified by various South 
Australian and Commonwealth Government geologists. 
Hiltaba Suite granites, which host most of South Australia’s 
iron oxide copper-gold (IOCG) deposits, occur throughout 
the project area.

Doray has completed a number of surface geochemical 
programs during the year and generated several anomalies 
that will be drill tested during the next period. It is anticipated 
that a rationalisation of the tenure will begin during the 
coming year as areas are tested and downgraded. 
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CORPORATE
On 19 August 2013, the Group announced the appointment 
of Mr Jon Latto as Chief Financial Officer.

On 5 March 2014, the Group entered into an additional 
hedging program to sell forward 39,651 ounces of gold at 
A$1,505.50/oz.

On 1 April 2014, the Group announced that it had reached 
agreement and was progressing through final 
documentation with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
(CBA) to reschedule the debt repayment and reserving for 
the Project Finance Facility (Facility) used to construct the 
Company’s 100%-owned high-grade Andy Well Gold 
Project, thereby freeing up cash flow for the Project. The 
Group also advised that the Andy Well Gold Project had 
achieved Project Completion, which results in a significantly 
reduced interest rate margin and a reduction of security 
currently held by CBA over Doray Minerals Ltd.

On 30 April 2014, the Group advised that Mr Heath Hellewell, 
Executive Director - Exploration and New Business and 
co-founder of Doray, had given notice of his resignation from the 
Company at the completion of his current Executive Services 
Agreement. His resignation was effective 30 June 2014.

Competent Persons Statement

The information in this announcement that relates to Ore 
Reserves is based on information compiled by Peter Bamford. 
Mr Bamford is a full-time employee of Doray Minerals Ltd 
and is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy (AusIMM). Mr Bamford has sufficient experience, 
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of 
deposit under consideration and to the activities which he is 
undertaking. This qualifies Mr Bamford as a “Competent 
Person” as defined in the 2012 edition of the ‘Australasian 

Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves’. Mr Bamford consents to the inclusion of 
information in this announcement in the form and context in 
which it appears. Mr Bamford holds shares and options in 
Doray Minerals Ltd.

The information in this announcement that relates to Mineral 
Resources is based on information compiled by Mark 
Cossom. Mr Cossom is a full time employee of Doray 
Minerals Ltd and is a Member of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM). Mr Cossom has sufficient 
experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activities 
which he is undertaking. This qualifies Mr Cossom as a 
“Competent Person” as defined in the 2012 edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Cossom consents 
to the inclusion of information in this announcement in the 
form and context in which it appears. Mr Cossom holds 
shares and options in Doray Minerals Ltd.

The information in this announcement that relates to 
Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Brad 
Drabsch. Mr Drabsch is a full-time employee of Doray Minerals 
Ltd and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists 
(AIG). Mr Drabsch has sufficient experience, which is relevant to 
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activities which he is undertaking.  
This qualifies Mr Drabsch as a “Competent Person” as defined 
in the 2012 edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’.  
Mr Drabsch consents to the inclusion of information in this 
announcement in the form and context in which it appears.  
Mr Drabsch holds options in Doray Minerals Ltd.
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For the framework of how the Board of Directors of Doray Minerals Limited (“Company”) carries out its duties and obligations, 
the Board has considered the eight principles of corporate governance as set out in the ASX Good Corporate Governance 
and Best Practice Recommendations.

The essential corporate governance principles are:
1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight;
2. Structure the Board to add value;
3. Promote ethical and responsible decision-making;
4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting;
5. Make timely and balanced disclosures;
6. Respect the rights of shareholders;
7. Recognise and manage risk;
8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly.

1. LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT.
Recommendation 1.1: Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.

Roles and Responsibilities:

The roles and responsibilities of the Board are to:
• Oversee control and accountability of the Company;
• Set the broad targets, objectives, and strategies;
• Monitor financial performance;
• Assess and review risk exposure and management;
• Oversee compliance, corporate governance, and legal obligations;
• Approve all major purchases, disposals, acquisitions, and issue of new shares;
• Approve the annual and half-year financial statements;
• Appoint and remove the Company’s Auditor;
• Appoint and assess the performance of the Managing Director and members of the senior 

management team;
• Report to shareholders.

Recommendation 1.2: Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.

A formal performance review is undertaken with each of the Company’s senior executives on an 
annual basis to review their performance over the preceding 12 month period and to set an action 
plan for the following 12 months. This process took place during the year ended 30 June 2014. 

Recommendation 1.3:  Provide the information indicated in the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Guide to Reporting 
on Principle 1.

The evaluation of performance of senior executives takes place throughout the year.

2. STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE.
Recommendation 2.1: A majority of the Board should be independent Directors. 

Recommendation 2.2: The Chairperson should be an independent Director. 

Recommendation 2.3: The roles of the Chairperson and Chief Executive should not be exercised by the same individual. 

Recommendation 2.4: The Board should establish a Nomination Committee.

Recommendation 2.5:  Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its Committees 
and individual Directors.

Recommendation 2.6: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2.
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Membership

The Board’s membership and structure is selected to provide the Company with the most 
appropriate direction in the areas of business controlled by the Company. The Board currently 
consists of five members: a Non-Executive Chairman, a Managing Director, and three Non-Executive 
Directors. Executive Director, Mr Heath Hellewell resigned on 30 June 2014 and the Board 
appointed Mr Peter Lester as a Non-Executive Director on 1 September 2014. The Non-Executive 
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are considered independent.

Chairman and Managing Director

The Company has a Non-Executive Chairman and a Managing Director.

Nomination Committee

The Company has a formal charter for the Nomination Committee, however, no Committee has been 
appointed to date. The Board as a whole deals with areas that would normally fall under the charter 
of the Nomination Committee. These include matters relating to the renewal of Board members and 
Board performance. Refer to the table of departure from best practice recommendations.

Skills

The Directors bring a range of skills and backgrounds to the Board including geological, mining, 
accountancy, finance, marketing, and stockbroking. 

Experience

The Directors have considerable experience in business at both operational and corporate levels.

Meetings

The Board meets when it considers it necessary to meet.

Independent professional advice

Each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense for 
which the prior approval of the Chairman is required, and is not unreasonably withheld.

3. PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING.
Recommendation 3.1:  Establish a code of conduct to guide the Directors, the Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent), and any 

other key executives as to:

3.1.1  The practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity;
3.1.2  The practices necessary to take into account legal obligations and the reasonable expectations 

of shareholders;
3.1.3   The responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of 

unethical practices.

Recommendation 3.2: Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, Officers, and employees.

Standards

The Company is committed to its Directors and employees maintaining high standards of integrity, 
and ensuring that activities are in compliance with the letter and spirit of both the law and Company 
policies. Each staff member is issued with the Company’s Policies and Procedures at the beginning of 
their employment with the Company.

A summary of the Company’s Share Trading Policy is included on the Company’s website.

Recommendation 3.3:  Disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the 
Board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

The Company believes that the promotion of diversity on Boards, in senior management and within the 
organisation generally broadens the pool for recruitment of high quality Directors and employees; is 
likely to support employee retention; through the inclusion of different perspectives, is likely to 
encourage greater innovation; and is socially and economically responsible governance practice.
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The Company is in compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles & 
Recommendations on Diversity. The Board of Directors is responsible for adopting and monitoring the 
Company’s diversity policy. The policy sets out the beliefs and goals and strategies of the Company with 
respect to diversity within the Company. Diversity within the Company means all the things that make 
individuals different to one another including gender, ethnicity, religion, culture, language, sexual orientation, 
disability and age. It involves a commitment to equality and to treating of one another with respect.

The Company is dedicated to promoting a corporate culture that embraces diversity. The Company 
believes that diversity begins with the recruitment and selection practices of its Board and its staff. 
Hiring of new employees and promotion of current employees are made on the basis of performance, 
ability and attitude.

Recommendation 3.4:  Disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women 
in senior executive positions and women on the Board. 

Currently there are women employees in the whole organisation but not in senior executive positions 
or on the Board. Given the present size of the Company, there are no plans to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity at this time. The need for establishing and assessing measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity will be re-assessed as the size of the Company increases.

The Company employs the following number of women in the following categories within its workforce:

Number Percentage

Women on the Board of Directors - 0%

Women in Senior Executive Positions - 0%

Women Employees 21 24%

Recommendation 3.5:  Provide the information indicated in the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 3.

A summary of both the Company’s Code of Conduct and its Share Trading Policy is included on the 
Company’s website.

4. SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING.
Recommendation 4.1: The Board should establish an Audit Committee

Recommendation 4.2: Structure the Audit Committee so that it consists of:

• Only Non-Executive Directors;
• A majority of independent Directors;
• An independent Chairperson, who is not Chairperson of the Board;
• At least three members.

Recommendation 4.3: The Audit Committee should have a formal charter – Refer to Recommendation 4.1.

Recommendation 4.4: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4.

Integrity of Company’s Financial Condition

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer will report in writing to the Board that the financial statements of 
the Company for the half and full financial year present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
Company’s financial condition and operational results in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

Audit Committee 

The Company has a formal charter for an Audit Committee. The Audit Committee was established 
with Jay Stephenson, Peter Alexander and Leigh Junk, who are all independent directors, as 
Committee members, with Jay Stephenson as Chair. The Board as a whole deals with areas that 
would normally fall under the charter of the Audit Committee.
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5. MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE.
Recommendation 5.1:  Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing rules disclosure 

requirements, and to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance.

Being a listed entity on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX), the Company has an obligation 
under the ASX Listing Rules to maintain an informed market with respect to its securities. Accordingly, 
the Company advises the market of all information required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules 
which the Board believes would have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities.

The Company Secretary has been appointed as the person responsible for communication with the 
ASX. This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure 
requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to 
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media, and the public.

All shareholders have access to the annual report on the Company’s website. Shareholders who 
have elected to receive a hardcopy will do so.

Recommendation 5.2:  Provide the information indicated in the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 5.

Disclosure is reviewed as a standard and routine agenda item at each Board meeting.

6. RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS.
Recommendation 6.1:  Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders 

and encourage effective participation at General Meetings.

Recommendation 6.2:  Request the external auditor to attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

The Company is committed to keeping shareholders fully informed of significant developments. In 
addition to public announcements of its financial statements and significant matters, the Company 
will provide the opportunity for shareholders to question the Board and management about its 
activities at the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

The Company’s auditor will be in attendance at the Annual General Meeting, and will also be 
available to answer questions from shareholders about the conduct of the audit and the preparation 
and content of the auditor’s report.

7. RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK.
Recommendation 7.1:  The Board or appropriate Board Committee should establish policies on risk oversight and management.

Recommendation 7.2:  The Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) to state in 
writing to the Board that:

7.2.1  The statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 (the integrity of 
financial statements) is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board.

7.2.2  The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

Recommendation 7.3:  The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer (or 
equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to the financial 
reporting risks. 
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Recommendation 7.4:  Provide the information indicated in the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Guide to reporting on 
Principle 7. 

The Board oversees the Company’s risk profile. The financial position of the Company and matters of 
risk are considered by the Board on a regular basis. The Board is responsible for ensuring that 
controls and procedures to identify, analyse, assess, prioritise, monitor, and manage risk are in place, 
being maintained and adhered to. 

The Chief Financial Officer and Managing Director have stated in writing to the Board that:
• The statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4 (the integrity of 

financial statements) is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board.

• The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is 
operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

8. REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY.
Recommendation 8.1: The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee.

Recommendation 8.2: Clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of executives.

Recommendation 8.3:  Ensure that payment of equity-based executive remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds 
set in plans approved by shareholders.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The objective of the Company’s remuneration framework is to ensure reward for performance is 
competitive and appropriate to the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with 
the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms to market best practice.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has a formal charter for the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee 
has Peter Alexander, Leigh Junk and Jay Stephenson as Committee members, with Peter Alexander 
as Chair. 

Directors’ Remuneration

Further information on Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration is set out in the Directors’ Report.

Departure from Best Practice Recommendations

From the Company’s incorporation, the Company has complied with each of the eight Corporate 
Governance Principles and Best Practice Recommendations published by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council, other than those items in the departure table below.

Recommendation 
Reference –  
ASX Guidelines Notification of Departure Explanation for Departure

2.4, 2.5, 2.6 A separate Nomination 
Committee has not been 
formed

The Board considers that the Company is not 
currently of a size to justify the formation of a 
Nomination Committee. The Board as a whole 
undertakes the process of reviewing the skill 
base and experience of existing Directors to 
enable identification of attributes required in 
Directors.
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Your Directors present their report on Doray Minerals Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2014.

DIRECTORS
The following persons were Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year:
Mr Peter Alexander Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Allan Kelly  Managing Director
Mr Heath Hellewell  Executive Director – Exploration and New Business (resigned 30 June 2014)
Mr Jay Stephenson  Non-Executive Director
Mr Leigh Junk  Non-Executive Director 
Mr Peter Lester  Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 September 2014)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Iain Garrett  

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of the Group during the year was the production of gold and exploration.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The loss of the Group for the year after tax amounted to $5,648,000 (2013: loss $8,394,000).

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no other significant changes in the nature of the Company’s activities during the year other than those 
matters that are disclosed in this report.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid during the period and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

INDEMNITIES
The Company has taken out an insurance policy to cover its Directors and Officers to indemnify them against any claims and 
negligence. The Company has agreed to indemnify the current Directors and Officers for all liabilities to another person, 
except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company 
shall meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Doray announced on 16 July 2014 that it had entered into an agreement to acquire a majority interest in the Gnaweeda 
Project, currently held by Archean Star Resources Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of TSX-V listed Transatlantic Mining Corporation. The 
project is located approximately 10km south-east of Doray’s Andy Well Gold Project and presents an opportunity to provide 
additional, high-grade ore sources for Andy Well in the short term.

On 18 August 2014, the Company announced that, based on a review of the carrying value of non-current assets as at 30 
June 2014, an impairment charge would be recognised, the final dollar amount of which would be finalised as part of the 
process of finalising the financial statements as at 30 June 2014. 

On 2 September 2014, Doray announced the appointment of Mr Peter Lester to the Board as a Non-Executive Director.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could 
significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in 
future financial years.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of these proceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Mr Peter Alexander Non-Executive Director from 5 May 2011, Chairman from 16 November 2011

Qualifications ASS APPL Geol

Experience Mr Alexander is a geologist by profession and has over 30 years’ experience in mineral exploration 
and mining in Australia and overseas. Mr Alexander was Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of Dominion Mining Ltd from 1997 until his retirement in January 2008, at which time he 
continued as a Non-Executive Director until the takeover by Kingsgate Consolidated in 2010. 

Mr Alexander managed the start-up and operation of Dominion’s Challenger gold mine in South 
Australia and, under Peter’s management, Dominion won the Gold Mining Journal’s “Gold Miner of 
the Year” three years in succession. 

Interest in shares 
and options

Shares Indirect holding 24,000

Special Responsibilities Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

Directorships held 
in listed entities

Mr Alexander is currently a Non-Executive Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited, Caravel 
Minerals Limited and Fortunis Resources Limited.

Mr Allan Kelly Managing Director from 20 August 2009

Qualifications BSc (Hons), Grad Cert Bus, FAAG MAIG

Experience Mr Kelly graduated from Curtin University with an honours degree in geology and has over 20 
years’ experience in mineral exploration geology, geochemistry and project management 
throughout Australia and the Americas. 

Prior to successfully listing Doray Minerals Ltd as Managing Director and major shareholder, Mr 
Kelly was directly involved in the targeting and early stage exploration of a number of gold, nickel, 
IOCG and uranium properties in Australia, Alaska and Canada and previously held senior 
exploration positions with WMC and Avoca Resources Ltd from its inception in 2002.

Since listing on the ASX in early 2010, Allan has guided Doray Minerals Limited through its initial 
exploration success, various capital raisings and towards development and production from the 
high grade Andy Well Gold Project. He first worked at Andy Well with WMC in the mid 1990’s and, 
in 2009, had the opportunity to negotiate terms on several former WMC properties in the 
Murchison, including Andy Well, as part of Doray’s listing. Doray Minerals was recognised as the 
most successful IPO of 2010 and, in 2011, was named “Gold Explorer of the Year” by the Gold 
Mining Journal. Mr Kelly was jointly awarded the Association of Mining and Exploration Companies’ 
Prospector of the Year award for 2014 with fellow founding director, Heath Hellewell.

Allan is a Fellow and former Councillor of the Association of Applied Geochemistry and is a member 
of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists.

Interest in shares 
and options

Shares Direct holding 7,368,107 
 Indirect holding 2,875,526

Options Indirect holding 1,250,000

Performance Rights Direct holding 116,626

Special Responsibilities None

Directorships held in 
other listed entities

None34
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Mr Jay Stephenson Non-Executive Director from 20 August 2009

Qualifications MBA, FCPA, CMA, FCIS, MAICD

Experience Mr Stephenson has been involved in business development for over 24 years including 
approximately 17 years as Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary for various 
listed and unlisted entities in resources, manufacturing, wine, hotels and property. He has been 
involved in business acquisitions, mergers, initial public offerings, capital raisings, business 
restructuring as well managing all areas of finance for companies.

Interest in shares 
and options

Shares Indirect holding 28,772

Options Direct holding 1,000,000

Special Responsibilities Chair of Audit Committee and member of Remuneration Committee

Directorships held 
in listed entities

Mr Stephenson is currently Chairman of Quintessential Resources Limited, Non-Executive Director 
of Drake Resources Limited, Strategic Minerals Corporation NL, Nickelore Limited, and Parmelia 
Resources Limited as well as Company Secretary for a number of ASX listed resource and industrial 
companies. Additional directorships held during the previous 3 years include Parker Resources 
Limited (resigned 14 December 2012), Spencer Resources Limited (resigned 20 January 2014) and 
Aura Energy Limited (resigned 13 July 2013)

Mr Leigh Junk Non-Executive Director from 5 May 2011

Qualifications Dip Surv, Grad Dip Min Eng, MSc Min Econ

Experience Mr Junk is a Mining Engineer with 22 years’ experience. He was the executive responsible for project 
evaluation, feasibility studies, production scheduling and mine design with several mining companies 
throughout Western Australia, including Pilbara Manganese Pty Ltd, WMC Resources Ltd and 
Mincor Operations Pty Ltd. Leigh started his own mining company Donegal Resources Pty Ltd in 
2000 which was successful in purchasing and recommissioning several Nickel operations in 
Kambalda W.A. The company was later sold to Canadian miner Brilliant Mining Corp. 

Mr Junk was the recipient of the 2003 Ernst & Young “Young Entrepreneur of the Year Award” and 
the 2007 W.A Business News “40 Under 40 Award”. Over the last 10 years Mr Junk has been a 
Director of several public companies in the Mining and Financial sectors in Australia and Canada. 

Interest in shares 
and options

Shares Indirect holding 60,000

Special Responsibilities Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

Directorships held 
in listed entities

Mr Junk was a Director of Sentosa Mining Limited (resigned 22 May 2014), Goldfields Money 
Limited (resigned 15 November 2013) and Aura Energy Limited (resigned 13 July 2013).

Mr Peter Lester Non-Executive Director – appointed 1 September 2014

Qualifications B.E. (Mining), MAusIMM, MAICD

Experience Mr Lester is a mining engineer with over 40 years’ experience in the resources industry including 
senior operating, development and corporate roles with Newcrest Ltd, North Ltd, CRA Ltd and MIM 
Ltd. He was the Executive General Manager Corporate Development for Oxiana when Toro Energy 
Limited was initially floated and then OZ Minerals Ltd prior to joining Citadel Resource Group as 
Executive Director responsible for Corporate Development. His activities have covered Australia, 
South East and Central Asia, the Middle East and the Americas and include a period in broking in 
both the research and corporate roles. Mr Lester is a Non-Executive Director of Castlemaine 
Goldfields Ltd, Toro Energy Limited, White Rock Minerals Ltd, Chesser Resources Limited, Accessio 
Resources Pty Ltd and Nord Gold N.V.

Interest in shares 
and options

Shares Nil

Options Nil

Special Responsibilities None

Directorships held 
in listed entities

None
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Mr Heath Hellewell Executive Director – Exploration and New Business from 20 August 2009, resigned 30 June 2014

Qualifications BSc(Hons), MAIG, MGSA

Experience Mr Hellewell has over 20 years’ experience in mineral exploration, geology and project 
management in Australia and Africa including positions with De Beers and Resolute Limited before 
joining Independence Group NL in 2000. Mr Hellewell was part of the team at Independence prior 
to its initial public offering and was part of the exploration team that identified and pegged the 
Tropicana area, leading to the discovery of the +5Moz Tropicana Gold Deposit. Heath rose to the 
position of Exploration Manager at Independence Group before joining Doray as a founding 
Director in 2009 with the responsibility for management of Doray’s exploration activities. Mr 
Hellewell was jointly awarded the Association of Mining and Exploration Companies’ Prospector of 
the Year award for 2014 with fellow founding director, Allan Kelly.

Mr Hellewell is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists.

Interest in shares 
and options 

Shares Direct holding 31,829* 
 Indirect holding 5,045,836*

*- at date of resignation

Special Responsibilities None

Directorships held 
in listed entities

None

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of Directors’ meetings and meetings of Committees of Directors held during the year and the number of meetings 
attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the year are:

Committee Meetings

Directors’ Meetings Remuneration Committee Audit Committee

Name Number 
attended

Number eligible 
to attend

Number 
attended

Number eligible 
to attend

Number 
attended

Number eligible 
to attend

Mr Peter Alexander 11 11 2 2 2 2

Mr Allan Kelly 11 11 - - - -

Mr Heath Hellewell 11 11 - - - -

Mr Jay Stephenson 10 11 2 2 2 2

Mr Leigh Junk 10 11 2 2 1 2

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS, CONTRACTS, AND BENEFITS
The interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company at the date of this report and as contained in the register of 
Directors’ shareholdings of the Company is shown in Note 24 of this Annual Report.

Since the end of the financial year no Director of the Company has received, or become entitled to receive, a benefit (other 
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors shown in the 
accounts) by reason of a contract made by the Company with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or 
a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, other than as disclosed in Note 24 of the accounts.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

(a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The following report determines the principles used to determine the nature and amount of employee remuneration. The 
Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and Key Management 
Personnel. The role also includes responsibility for share option schemes, superannuation entitlements, retirement and 
termination entitlements, fringe benefit policies, liability insurance policies and other terms of employment.

The Board will review the arrangements having regard to performance, relevant comparative information and at its discretion 
may obtain independent expert advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages. Remuneration packages are set at 
levels intended to attract and retain Key Management Personnel capable of managing the Company’s activities.

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
The Company’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. 
Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the Company. 

Non-Executive Directors are remunerated by way of fees (in the form of cash and/or superannuation benefits) and are not 
provided with retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation entitlements.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration
Executive Directors’ pay and reward consists of a competitive level of base pay which is reviewed annually and 
performance incentives to ensure that:
a) remuneration packages involve a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting short and long term performance 

objectives;
b) a proportion of remuneration is structured in a manner designed to link reward to corporate and individual 

performances; and
c) recommendations are made to the Board with respect to the quantum of incentive payments to be paid by the 

Remuneration Committee.

Short-term Incentive Payments – Executive Directors
Each year the Remuneration Committee sets the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) for the Executive Directors. The KPIs 
generally include measures relating to the Group and the individual’s performance, both internally and externally, and 
include financial, people, and compliance measures. The measures are chosen as they directly align the individual’s 
rewards to the KPIs of the Group and to its strategy and performance.

All performance objectives are weighted when calculating the maximum Short Term Incentive (“STI”).

At the end of the year the Remuneration Committee will assess the actual performance of the Executive Directors against 
the KPIs set at the beginning of the financial year. A percentage of the incentive amount is awarded depending on the 
results, with no incentive being awarded where the performance falls below the minimum requirement. The incentive is in 
the form of a cash payment.

Long-term Incentive Payments – Executive Directors
Commencing 1 July 2012 the Company implemented a Long Term Incentive (“LTI”) scheme to assist in the incentivisation 
and retention of experienced, qualified executives and is marked against the results of similar ASX listed gold companies. 
The payment is capped at a percentage of the executive’s base salary and is paid in share rights vesting after three 
years. 25% of the shares are guaranteed to vest and 75% will be at risk. The proportion of the at-risk rights that vest will 
be determined by how the company has performed on a TSR basis against a comparator group of companies.

The Executive pay and reward framework has three components:
• base pay and benefits;
• long-term incentives through Directors options (refer Note 24); and
• other remuneration such as superannuation.

The combination of these comprises the total remuneration payable to the Company’s Key Management Personnel.

The following Performance Rights (“Rights”) were issued to Executive Directors during the financial year and are subject 
to vesting conditions:

Executive Director
No. granted 

during the year
No. vested 

during the year
No. cancelled 

during the year
Balance at 

30 June 2014

Allan Kelly 116,626 - 116,626

Heath Hellewell 103,170 - 103,170* -

219,796 - 103,170 116,626

* Mr Hellewell resigned on 30 June 2014. As a result his rights were cancelled as the vesting conditions linked to the rights could not be met.
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(b) Details of remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each of the Key Management Personnel of the 
Company (including the Directors) for the year ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 are set out in the following tables:

For the year ended 
30 June 2014 Short-term benefits

Post-employ-
ment benefits Equity

Name

Salary 
and fees

$

Short-term 
incentive 

$

 Super- 
annuation

$

Share-based Payment 
Options/ Rights

$

Other 
Payments

$

Total

$

% 
Consisting 
of Options

Directors:

Mr Peter Alexander 84,997 - 7,862 - - 92,859 0%

Mr Allan Kelly 415,000 90,090 (a) 46,894 9,600 - 561,584 2%

Mr Heath Hellewell (b) 360,000 45,000 (a) 37,618 - 16,479 459,097 0%

Mr Jay Stephenson 58,333 - 5,396 - - 63,729 0%

Mr Leigh Junk 58,333 - 5,396 - - 63,729 0%

Key Management:

Mr Jon Latto (c) 243,462 - 14,813 21,820 - 280,095 8%

Mr Mark Cossom 252,502 - 23,356 37,865 - 313,723 12%

Mr Peter Bamford 340,836 - 31,527 28,520 - 400,883 7%

1,813,463 135,090 172,862 97,805 16,479 2,235,699

(a) Performance bonuses were paid to Mr Kelly and Mr Hellewell in accordance with the terms of their service contracts.
(b)  Mr Heath Hellewell resigned as an Executive Director effective 30 June 2014. His unused annual leave was paid out on 

termination ($16,479).
(c) Mr Jon Latto was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 9 September 2013. 

For the year ended 
30 June 2013 Short-term benefits

Post-employ-
ment benefits Equity

Name

Salary 
and fees

$

Short-term 
incentive 

$

Super- 
annuation

$

Share-based Payment 
Options

$

Other

Payments

$

Total

$

% 
Consisting 
of Options

Directors:

Mr Peter Alexander 87,430 - 7,869 - - 95,299 0%

Mr Allan Kelly 390,000 66,300 35,100 - - 491,400 0%

Mr Heath Hellewell 345,000 67,500 31,050 - - 443,550 0%

Mr Jay Stephenson 55,000 - 4,950 - - 59,950 0%

Mr Leigh Junk 55,000 - 4,950 - - 59,950 0%

Key Management:

Mr Grant Dyker (a) 300,000 - 27,000 28,410 - 355,410 8%

Mr Mark Cossom 240,000 - 21,600 48,933 - 310,533 16%

Mr Peter Bamford 325,000 - 29,250 25,419 - 379,669 7%

1,797,430 133,800 161,769 102,762 - 2,195,761

 (a) Mr Grant Dyker was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2012 and resigned on 17 June 2013. 

38

D
O

R
AY

 M
IN

ER
A

LS
 L

IM
IT

ED
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

EP
O

RT
  2

0
14



(c) Executive Directors’ and Officer’s employment agreements

The Company has entered into service agreements with the following Executives and Officers on the following material 
terms and conditions:

Managing Director
Mr Kelly is engaged by the Company under an Executive Service Agreement to provide services to the Company in the 
capacity of Managing Director. Mr Kelly is paid an annual salary of $415,000 per annum plus superannuation. Mr Kelly 
will also be reimbursed reasonable expenses.

The Service Agreement continues for a period of 2 years commencing from 1 July 2014, unless otherwise extended or 
terminated in accordance with its terms. Mr Kelly will have an annual pay review and the Company may pay a 
performance-based bonus over and above the base salary. 

If the Service Agreement is terminated, Mr Kelly will be given 6 months’ notice. If the Service Agreement is terminated due 
to specified misconduct, for reasons of bankruptcy, death or if otherwise removed from office under the Corporations Act 
2001 or the Company’s constitution, then Mr Kelly is only entitled to unpaid remuneration and entitlements.

Executive Director – Exploration and New Business (resigned 30 June 2014)
Mr Hellewell was engaged by the Company under an Executive Service Agreement to provide services to the Company 
in the capacity of Executive Director. Mr Hellewell was paid an annual salary of $360,000 per annum plus 
superannuation and reimbursed reasonable expenses. 

Under the terms of the Service Agreement, Mr Hellewell gave 6 months’ notice upon resignation and served until 
30 June 2014. 

Development Manager
Mr Mark Cossom is employed by the Company under an employment contract in the capacity of Development Manager 
and is paid an annual salary of $255,000 per annum plus superannuation. The employee contract was approved during 
the year and was not back dated to 1 July 2013. Mr Cossom is also reimbursed reasonable expenses. Mr Cossom’s 
employment contract continues until it is replaced or until it is terminated in accordance with its terms. Mr Cossom will 
have an annual pay review. The employment contract can be terminated by giving 4 weeks’ notice. 

General Manager - Operations
Mr Bamford is employed by the Company under an Executive Services Agreement in the capacity of General Manager - 
Operations and is paid an annual salary of $344,000 per annum plus superannuation. The employee contract was 
approved during the year and was not back dated to 1 July 2013. Mr Bamford will also be reimbursed reasonable 
expenses. The Service Agreement continues until it is replaced or until it is terminated in accordance with its terms. 
Mr Bamford will have an annual pay review. The employment contract can be terminated by giving 3 months’ notice. 

Chief Financial Officer
Mr Jon Latto is employed by the Company under an employment contract in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer 
effective 9 September 2013 on an annual salary of $300,000 per annum plus superannuation. Mr Latto is also 
reimbursed reasonable expenses. Upon sign-on, the Company issued Mr Latto 100,000 options to purchase ordinary 
shares in the Company. These options will expire 4 years from the issue date exercisable at 150% of the average trading 
price of the Company on the five business days immediately preceding Mr Latto’s commencement date.

The employment contract can be terminated by giving 6 weeks’ notice. If the Employment contract is terminated due to 
specified misconduct, for reasons of bankruptcy, death or if otherwise removed from office under the Corporations Act 
2001 or the Company’s constitution, then Mr Latto is only entitled to unpaid remuneration and entitlements. 

39



(d) Share-based compensation

On 9 September 2013, 100,000 options were granted to Mr Jon Latto for no consideration per the terms and conditions 
of his contract and were restricted for 3 months at the Company’s discretion. These options are exercisable at $1.03 each 
on or before 9 September 2017. The exercise price was calculated at 150% of the average trading price of the Company 
on the five business days immediately preceding Mr Latto’s commencement date of 9 September 2013.

On 19 December 2013, 172,000 options were granted to Mr Peter Bamford and 127,500 options to Mr Mark Cossom per 
the terms and conditions of the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme. These options are exercisable at $0.83 each 
on or before 19 December 2015, restricted for 12 months from date of issue. The exercise price was calculated at 140% of 
the average trading price of the Company on the five business days immediately preceding the grant date.

Key Management 
Personnel

No. granted 
during the year

Exercise 
price

FV per option 
at grant date

No. vested 
during the year

% of grant 
vested

% of grant 
forfeited Expiry date

Jon Latto 100,000 $1.03 $0.2182 100,000 100% - 09/09/2017

Mark Cossom 127,500 $0.83 $0.1384 - - - 19/12/2015

Peter Bamford 172,000 $0.83 $0.1384 - - - 19/12/2015

399,500

(e) Equity instruments issued on exercise of remuneration options

There were no equity instruments issued during the period to Directors or other Key Management Personnel as a result of 
options exercised that had previously been granted as compensation.

This concludes the audited Remuneration Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Group holds various exploration licences to regulate its mining and exploration activities in Australia. These licences 
include conditions and regulations with respect to rehabilitation of areas disturbed during the course of mining and 
exploration activities. However the Board believes that it has adequate systems in place for the management of its 
environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of environmental requirements as they apply to the Group. 

LOANS TO DIRECTORS
As at 30 June 2014, there are no outstanding loans to Directors. No other loans have been made to Directors of the 
Company and the specified executives of the Company, including their personally-related entities.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of Doray Minerals Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Expiry date Exercise Price Number under option

4 February 2015 $0.20 1,250,000

31 March 2015 $1.20 250,000

31 October 2015 $1.65 175,000

12 December 2015 $2.03 50,000

5 December 2015 $2.08 100,000

1 March 2016 $2.00 195,000

28 February 2016 $1.93 150,000

10 April 2016 $1.79 150,000

20 November 2014 $1.10 1,743,800

9 September 2017 $1.03 100,000

19 December 2015 $0.83 3,490,413

7,654,213

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or of any other entity.
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SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS
During the year ended 30 June 2014, a total of 250,000 options were exercised to purchase 250,000 fully paid ordinary 
shares at $0.20 per share.

NON–AUDIT SERVICES
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd during the 
period is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
Non-audit service fees related to the period amounted to $nil for taxation and secretarial services for the year ended 30 June 
2014 ($nil: 30 June 2013).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2014 has been received and can be found on page 75 of 
the annual report.

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS
The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with 
that Class Order amounts in the directors’ report and the financial statements are rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Peter Alexander
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Dated this 30th day of September 2014
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Note
2014  

$’000
2013 

$’000

Revenue from operations 110,574 -

Mining and processing costs (37,218) -

Depreciation and amortisation (38,518) (519)

Royalty expense (3,407) -

Exploration and evaluation expenditure written off 10 (382) (7,810)

Gross profit/(loss) 31,049 (8,329)

Corporate and other expenses (5,080) (4,263)

Results from operating activities 25,969 (12,592)

Financial income 605 613

Financial expense (3,053) (10)

Net financing (expense)/ income (2,448) 603

Results from operating and financing activities 23,521 (11,989)

Impairment charge 4 (32,004) -

Loss before income tax 4 (8,483) (11,989)

Income tax benefit 15 2,835 3,595

Net loss for the period (5,648) (8,394)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (4,473) 7,783

Total items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (4,473) 7,783

Other comprehensive income for the half year, net of income tax (4,473) 7,783

Total comprehensive loss for the period (10,121) (611)

Cents Cents

Basic and Diluted loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 21 (3.78) (6.96)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note
2014  

$’000
2013 

$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 15,656 25,700 

Trade and other receivables 6 921 451 

Inventories 7 6,070 3,172 

Financial asset – gold hedge 8 4,728 11,118

Prepayments 41 - 

Total Current Assets 27,416 40,441

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 56,824 3,324 

Exploration assets 10 10,697 4,848 

Mine development asset 11 13,879 97,504 

Deferred tax assets 15 5,953 939 

Total Non-Current Assets 87,353 106,615

TOTAL ASSETS 114,769 147,056

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 20,160 15,622

Provisions 13 1,298 260 

Borrowings 14 14,664 20,563

Total Current Liabilities 36,122 36,445

Non-Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 - 4,000

Provisions 13 1,222 1,186

Borrowings 14 698 35,487

Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,920 40,673

TOTAL LIABILITIES 38,042 77,118

NET ASSETS 76,727 69,938

EQUITY

Issued capital 16 90,412 73,947

Reserves 17 6,810 10,838

Accumulated losses (20,495) (14,847)

TOTAL EQUITY 76,727 69,938

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note
Issued Capital

$’000
Reserves

$’000

Accumulated 
Losses 
$’000

Total
$’000

At 1 July 2012 30,398 2,673 (6,453) 26,618

Comprehensive loss

Net loss for the year - - (8,394) (8,394)

Total other comprehensive income - 7,783 - 7,783

Total comprehensive loss - 7,783 (8,394) (611)

Transactions with owners  
recorded directly in equity

Issue of shares 45,133 - - 45,133

Share issue costs 16 (1,584) - - (1,584)

Share based payments 17 - 382 - 382

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners 43,549 382 - 43,931

At 30 June 2013 73,947 10,838 (14,847) 69,938

At 1 July 2013 73,947 10,838 (14,847) 69,938

Comprehensive loss

Net loss for the year - - (5,648) (5,648)

Total other comprehensive income - (4,473) - (4,473)

Total comprehensive loss - (4,473) (5,648) (10,121)

Transactions with owners  
recorded directly in equity

Issue of shares 17,078 - - 17,078

Share issue costs 16 (613) - - (613)

Share based payments 17 - 445 - 445

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners 16,465 445 - 16,910

At 30 June 2014 90,412 6,810 (20,495) 76,727

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note
2014  

$’000
2013 

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers – Gold Sales 110,555 -

Receipts from customers – Research and Development refund - 2,965

Payments to suppliers and employees (50,293) (252)

Interest paid (3,053) (10)

Interest received 561 614

Net cash inflow from operating activities 22 57,770 3,317

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and equipment (2,656) (1,547)

Payments for exploration and evaluation assets (5,834) (6,256)

Payments for mine development asset (30,364) (70,710)

Payments for joint venture interests (4,100) -

Net cash outflow from investing activities (42,954) (78,513)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share issue 17,029 43,030

Proceeds from borrowings - 55,000

Repayments of borrowings (20,000) (151)

Transfer to Debt Service Reserve Account (21,149) -

Proceeds from exercise of options 50 103

Capital raising costs paid (790) (2,264)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (24,860) 95,718

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (10,044) 20,522

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 25,700 5,178

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 15,656 25,700

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTE: 1. REPORTING ENTITY
Doray Minerals Limited (the “Company”) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2014 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”).

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of the financial 
report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

NOTE: 2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for derivative financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value.

Financial Position
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business 
activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Group has incurred a loss of $5,648,000 (2013: loss of $8,394,000) for the year ended 30 June 2014 after 
recognising an impairment charge of $32,004,000 for the Andy Well Gold Project (refer to note 4(b) for further detail). 

As at 30 June 2014 the Group has net current liabilities of $8,706,000 (2013: net current assets of $3,996,000) which 
includes cash and cash equivalents of $15,656,000, trade and other receivables of $921,000, inventories of 
$6,070,000, a gold hedge financial asset of $4,728,000, trade payables of $20,160,000 and borrowings of 
$15,362,000. The payment of trade payables, borrowings and forecast operational and capital expenditure arising from 
the mining operations at the Andy Well Gold Project are expected to be met from existing cash resources and 
operational cash flows. Any shortfalls experienced in the near term will be covered by the raising or restructuring of debt 
or through a capital raising. Based on the reasons above, the directors believe it is appropriate that the financial report 
be prepared on a going concern basis.

Functional and presentation currency
Both the functional and presentation currency of the Company is the Australian Dollar.

Rounding off of amounts
The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with 
that Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Adoption of new and revised standards
Changes in accounting policies on initial application of Accounting Standards
In the year ended 30 June 2014, the Company has reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. 

It has been determined by the Company that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations on its business and, therefore, no change is necessary to Company accounting policies, with the 
exception of the following standards:

AASB 2011-4 – Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements: This standard removes the individual key management personnel disclosure requirements in 
AASB 124 and as a result the Company only has to disclose key management personnel compensation in aggregate.
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The Company has also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective 
for the year ended 30 June 2014 and has decided against early adoption of these standards. A discussion of these 
standards follows:

• AASB 2013-3: Amendments to AASB 136-Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (applicable 
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

The amendment removes extra disclosure requirements with regard to the measurement of the recoverable amount of 
impaired assets.

• AASB 2012-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 
(June 2012) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

The amendments to AASB 132 clarify when an entity has a legally enforceable right to set-off financial assets and 
liabilities permitting entities to present balances net on the balance sheet.

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2015).

AASB 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for 
financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

In AASB 9 (December 2010), the standard added requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities that are generally consistent with the equivalent requirements in AASB 139 except in respect of the fair value 
option and certain derivatives linked to unquoted equity instruments. The standard also added the requirements in 
AASB 139 in relation to the derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities to AASB 9.

The Group does not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting Standards, and has not 
assessed the full impact of these amendments at the date of this report.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2014.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision
The Consolidated Entity assesses its mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision at each balance date in 
accordance with accounting policy note 2(i). Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for mine 
rehabilitation and site restoration as there are many transactions and other factors that will affect the ultimate liability 
payable to rehabilitate and restore the mine sites and related assets. Factors that will affect this liability include future 
development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates. When these factors change or 
become known in the future, such differences will impact the site restoration provision and asset in the period in which 
they change or become known.

Units of production method of amortisation
The Consolidated Entity amortises mine properties in production on a units of production basis over economically 
recoverable reserves and resources. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. Significant 
judgement is required in assessing the available reserves and resources under this method. Factors that must be 
considered in determining reserves and resources are the complexity of metallurgy, product prices, foreign exchange 
rates, cost structures and future developments. When these factors change or become known in the future, such 
differences will impact amortisation expense and the carrying value of mine property assets.

Determination of ore reserves and mineral resource
The Consolidated Entity estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by competent 
persons in accordance with the Australian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves December 2012 
(the JORC code). Reserves and where applicable resources determined in this way are used in the calculation of 
amortisation and impairment charges, the assessment of mine lives and for forecasting the timing of the payment of 
restoration costs. When a change in estimated recoverable gold ounces contained in proved and probable ore reserves, 
and where applicable, resources, is made, amortisation and depreciation is accounted for prospectively.

47



Impairment
In accordance with accounting policy note 2(g), the Consolidated Entity, in determining whether the recoverable amount 
of its cash generating unit is the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use against which asset impairment is to 
be considered, undertakes future cash flow calculations which are based on a number of critical estimates and 
assumptions including, for its mine properties, forward estimates of:
• mine life, including quantities of mineral reserves and resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of 

economic extraction with given technology;
• production levels and demand;
• gold price;
• inflation;
• cash costs of production; and
• discount rates applicable to the cash generating unit.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation of assets
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale, of the underlying mineral exploration properties. The Consolidated Entity 
undertakes at least on an annual basis, a comprehensive review of indicators of impairment of these assets. There is 
significant estimation and judgement in determining the inputs and assumptions used in determining the recoverable 
amounts where there are impairment indicators.

The key areas of estimate and judgement that are considered in this review include:
• recent drilling results and reserves and resource estimates;
• environmental issues that may impact underlying tenements;
• the estimated market value of assets at the review date;
• fundamental economic factors such as the gold price, exchange rates and current and anticipated operating costs in 

the industry; and

Information used in the review process is tested against externally available information as appropriate.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no 
adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future 
assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements.

Estimation of stamp duty
Stamp duty relating to the purchase of the 20% interest in Andy Well has been provided for based on a best estimate by 
the Group’s advisors. The relevant law is complex and its application is dependent on individual details of the transaction. 
Therefore the actual charge when advised by the State Government may be different.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of entities controlled by the Group are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date control ceases. The 
Company has control over another entity when it is exposed to variable returns from that entity and has the power to 
affect those returns.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group balances, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(c) Income Tax

The charge for current income tax expenses is based on the profit for the period adjusted for any non-assessable or 
disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income 
tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is 
no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is 
settled. Deferred tax is credited in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income except where it relates 
to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no 
adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future 
assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, all members of 
the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Doray 
Minerals Limited

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment including Mine Development Asset

Items of property, plant and equipment and mine development assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost also may include transfers from other comprehensive income of any gain 
or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased 
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. When parts 
of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within other income in 
profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained 
earnings. The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(e) Depreciation

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates calculated to allocate 
the cost less the estimated residual value over the estimated useful life of each asset.

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life
Motor Vehicles 4 years
Plant and Equipment 3 – 4 years
IT software 3 – 5 years
Buildings 7 years
Mine development costs Units of production

The assets’ carrying values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

(f) Financial Instruments

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Recognition
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is 
created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables.
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Derivative Instruments and Hedge Accounting
Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position and classified based 
on contractual maturity. Derivative instruments are classified as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or 
liabilities or of firm commitments (“fair value hedges”), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (“cash flow 
hedges”) or non-hedge derivatives. Derivatives designated as either a fair value or cash flow hedge that are expected to 
be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows are assessed on an ongoing basis to 
determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were 
designated. Derivative assets and derivative liabilities are shown separately in the statement of financial position unless 
there is a legal right to offset and the intent to settle on a net basis.

Fair Value Hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, together with any changes in the fair value of 
the hedged asset or liability or firm commitment that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period when the forecasted transaction impacts earnings. 

When the forecasted transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial 
liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the measurement of 
the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability. When a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge expires or is sold 
and the forecasted transaction is still expected to occur, any cumulative gain or loss relating to the derivative that is 
recorded in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income when the forecasted transaction occurs. When a forecasted transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(g) Impairment

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 
or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”).

Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill 
has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups 
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may 
be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying 
amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Financial assets (including receivables)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a 
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, 
for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 
evidence of impairment.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All receivables are individually 
assessed for specific impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on 
the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes 
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(h) Employee Benefits

Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 
is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Other long-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the liability due to employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the reporting 
date. Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year together with benefits arising out of wages and salaries, 
sick leave and annual leave which will be settled after one year, have been measured at their nominal amount. Other 
employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits.

Contributions made to defined employee superannuation funds are charged as expenses when incurred. 

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provision for site restoration and rehabilitation
In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration 
and rehabilitation in respect of disturbed land is recognised when the land is disturbed.

The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the restoration and 
rehabilitation obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology. Future restoration 
and rehabilitation costs are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration and 
rehabilitation provision at the end of the reporting period. The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is 
recognised as a finance cost.

(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less plus bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown on the 
statement of financial position as current liabilities under borrowings.

(k) Finance Income and Finance Costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), dividend 
income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss 
on the date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the 
ex-dividend date.
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(l) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax, except:
i) Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, it is recognised as part of the 

cost of the acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expenditure.
ii) Receivables and payables are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(m) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets, including costs of acquiring licenses, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation 
assets on an area of interest basis. Costs of acquiring licences which are pending the approval of the Department of 
Mines and Petroleum as at the date of reporting are capitalised as exploration and evaluation cost if in the opinion of the 
Directors it is virtually certain the Company will be granted the licences.

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of tenure to the area of interest are current and either:
i) The expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of 

interest, or
ii) Activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations 
in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when:
i) Sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and
ii) Facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see impairment 

accounting policy in Note 2(g)). For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are 
allocated to cash-generating units to which exploration activity relates. The cash generating unit shall not be larger 
than the area of interest.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are 
demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and 
then reclassified from Intangible assets to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.

(n) Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(o) Leases

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership that is transferred to the Company, are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease term.

(p) Share-based Payment Transactions

The Company has provided payment to service providers and related parties in the form of share-based compensation, 
whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The cost of 
these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value of the instruments at the date at which they 
are granted. The fair value is determined using an appropriate option valuation model for services provided by 
employees or where the fair value of the shares received cannot be reliably estimated.

For goods and services received where the fair value can be determined reliably the goods and services and the 
corresponding increase in equity are measured at that fair value.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any 
non-market vesting conditions. Non market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options 
that are expected to become exercisable. 
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At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options granted subject to non-market 
vesting conditions that are expected to become exercisable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant parties become fully entitled to 
the award (‘vesting date’).

(q) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(r) Stripping Costs

During the development of a mine, before production commences, stripping costs, being the process of mining overburden 
and waste materials to access ore from which minerals can be extracted economically, are capitalised as part of the 
investment in construction of the mine and are subsequently amortised over the life of the mine on a units of production basis.

(s) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class 
of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis. 

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to 
make the sale.

(t) Research and Development Grants

Research and Development grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses already incurred are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Research and Development Grants that relate to assets are included in the carrying amount of the asset. The grant is 
recognised in profit or loss over the life of the asset as a reduced depreciation expense.

NOTE: 3. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Share-based payment transactions
The Company has provided payment to service providers and related parties in the form of share-based compensation, 
whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The cost of these 
equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 
determined using an appropriate option valuation model for services provided by employees or where the fair value of the 
shares received cannot be reliably estimated.

For goods and services received where the fair value can be determined reliably the goods and services and the 
corresponding increase in equity are measured at that fair value.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions. Non market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. 

At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected become exercisable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant parties become fully entitled to the 
award (‘vesting date’).

53



Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position and classified based on 
contractual maturity. Derivative instruments are classified as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or of 
firm commitments (“fair value hedges”), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (“cash flow hedges”) or non-hedge 
derivatives. Derivatives designated as either a fair value or cash flow hedge that are expected to be highly effective in achieving 
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly 
effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. Derivative assets and derivative liabilities are 
shown separately in the statement of financial position unless there is a legal right to offset and the intent to settle on a net basis.

NOTE: 4. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

(a) Significant Expenses

The following significant items are relevant in explaining the financial performance:

Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Audit fees 56 49

Depreciation 9 10,612 385

Amortisation 27,906 134

Share-based payments expensed 17 445 382

Exploration expenditure written-off 10 382 7,810

Employee benefits expense 10,237 1,924

Rent and utilities 565 309

Impairment charge 4(b) 32,004 -

(b) Impairment – Andy Well Gold Project

ln accordance with AASB 136 - Impairment of Assets an impairment charge has been made against the carrying value of 
a Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”), namely the Andy Well Gold Project (“Project”) as a result of the significant and 
sustained decline in the gold price.

An impairment is recognised when the carrying amount of the Project exceeds the recoverable amount. In accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy, recoverable amount is assessed as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. The Group has adopted value in use in its assessment, using discounted cash flows over the life of the mine. 

The key assumptions, in addition to the life of mine plan used in the discounted cash flow valuation, are the gold price, the 
Australian dollar exchange rate against the US dollar and the discount rate.

Gold price and AUD$:USD$ exchange rate assumptions are estimated by management, with reference to external 
market forecasts, and updated at least annually. For this review, the forecast gold price was estimated at US$1,113-
US$1,170/oz. and the forecast exchange rate of US$0.88 to US$0.94 per A$1.00, based on a forward curve over the life 
of the mine. Significant changes to either the forecast gold price or the forecast exchange rate may have an impact on 
the carrying value of the CGU in future periods.

A discount rate of 12% was applied to the pre-tax cash flows expressed in nominal terms. The discount rate was derived 
from the Group’s post tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC), with appropriate adjustments made to reflect the 
risks specific to the CGU.

As a result of this impairment assessment, the Group has recorded an impairment charge of $32,004,300 pre-tax 
related to the carrying value of the Project’s acquisition and development costs. This impairment charge is reflected in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

NOTE: 5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand 15,656 25,700

Total cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows 15,656 25,700

NOTE: 6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current

Trade and other receivables 6 -

GST receivable 915 451

921 451
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NOTE: 7. INVENTORIES
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Current

Ore stockpiles 787 3,110

Bullion 328 -

Gold in circuit 3,659 -

Store consumables, fuel and reagents 1,296 62

6,070 3,172

NOTE: 8. FINANCIAL ASSET – GOLD HEDGE
Derivative financial instrument 4,728 11,118

In January 2013, Doray undertook a gold hedging programme comprising the forward sale of 45,000 ounces at an average 
price of A$1,620 per ounce over the first 14 months of production, comprising approximately 50% of total production from the 
Andy Well Gold Project over this period. 

The Company undertook further hedging in March 2014 comprising the forward sale of an additional 39,651 ounces at an 
average price of A$1,505.50 per ounce over the period October 2014 to September 2015.

NOTE: 9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings 8,931 1,075

Accumulated depreciation (944) (217)

7,987 858

Plant and equipment 57,639 1,720

Accumulated depreciation (9,640) (406)

47,999 1,314

Motor vehicles 1,509 1,370

Accumulated depreciation (671) (218)

838 1,152

Total property, plant and equipment at cost 63,774 4,165

Total accumulated depreciation (6,950) (841)

56,824 3,324

Movements in carrying amounts during the year

Land and 
buildings

$’000

Plant and 
equipment

$’000

Motor 
vehicles

$’000

Total

$’000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2012 1,004 265 223 1,492

Additions - 1,300 1,050 2,350

Depreciation charge (146) (251) (121) (518)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2013 858 1,314 1,152 3,324

Carrying amount at 1 July 2013 858 1,314 1,152 3,324

Additions 5 2,586 139 2,730

Transfer from mine development 7,851 53,531 - 61,382

Depreciation charge (727) (9,432) (453) (10,612)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2014 7,987 47,999 838 56,824
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NOTE: 10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Exploration at cost

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,848 21,373

Transfer to mine development assets (note 11) - (17,971)

Exploration of tenements 6,328 9,256

Exploration expenditure written off (382) (7,810)

Amortisation (97) -

Balance at the end of the year 10,697 4,848

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest within the exploration and evaluation asset to determine the 
appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Exploration and evaluation assets are 
assessed for write down if facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount which 
resulted in a write off of $382,000 on exploration and evaluation assets for the year ended 30 June 2014 (2013: $7,809,922).

NOTE: 11. MINE DEVELOPMENT ASSETS
Mine Development Assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 97,504 -

Transfer from exploration and evaluation assets (note 10) - 17,971

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (61,382) -

Additions 37,570 79,533

Amortisation (27,809) -

Impairment (note 4) (32,004) -

Balance at the end of the year 13,879 97,504

NOTE: 12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current

Creditors 8,535 9,112

Accruals 7,055 2,460

Other payables* 4,570 4,050

20,160 15,622

Non-current

Other payables* - 4,000

- 4,000

*Included in other payables is a liability of $4,000,000 in respect of the acquisition of the remaining 20% of the Andy Well Gold Project 
which the Group did not previously own. The $4,000,000 is payable within 14 days of the Company producing 100,000 ounces of gold 
from the Andy Well Gold Project, which is expected to be reached in the next financial year.
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NOTE: 13. PROVISIONS
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Current

Annual leave provision 640 260

Provision for stamp duty 658 -

1,298 260

Number of employees at year end 94 41

Employee benefits

Balance at the beginning of the year 260 133

Additional provisions 439 359

Amounts used (59) (232)

Balance at the end of the year 640 260

Non-Current

Provision for rehabilitation 1,222 1,186

1,222 1,186

Rehabilitation provision

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,186 -

Unwinding of discount 36 1,186

Balance at the end of the year 1,222 1,186

NOTE: 14. BORROWINGS 
Current

Finance lease liabilities 743 407

Insurance premium funding 70 156

Bank loans 35,000 20,000

Debt Service Reserve (21,149) -

14,664 20,563

Non-Current

Finance lease liabilities 698 487

Bank loans - 35,000

698 35,487

The bank loan is secured over the assets of the Andy Well Project.

Under the term of the bank loan agreement, the Group is required to maintain cash on deposit in a Debt Service Reserve 
Account which amounted to $21,149,000 at 30 June 2014. The cash cannot be withdrawn or used by the Company for 
liquidity purposes whilst the borrowing is outstanding. For the periodic repayments of the borrowings, the Company and the 
lender intend to net settle. As a result, the Group’s borrowings have been presented net of the cash on deposit, as the 
requirements under Australian Accounting Standards to offset have been met. 
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NOTE: 15. INCOME TAX 
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Tax recognised in profit or loss

Current tax expense

Current year - -

Deferred tax expense recognised in profit or loss

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,408) (4,462)

Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax (427) 867

Total income tax (benefit)/expense in profit or loss (2,835) (3,595)

Tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges (1,917) 3,336

Tax benefit recognised directly in equity
Share-raising costs (263) (679)

(i) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net loss:

Loss before income tax (8,483) (11,989)

Income tax benefit using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30% (2,545) (3,597)

Increase/(decrease) in income tax expense due to:

Non-deductible expenses 137 127

Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax (427) 867

Acquired tax assets - (105)

Non assessable income - (887)

Income tax benefit reported in the Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (2,835) (3,595)

There are no unrecognised tax assets as at the balance sheet date. 
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Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

30 June 
2014

$’000

30 June 
2013

$’000

30 June 
2014

 $’000

30 June 
2013

$’000

30 June 
2014

$’000

30 June 
2013

$’000

Inventories - - 55 19 55 19

Hedge assets - - 1,418 3,335 1,418 3,335

Investment in subsidiaries - (519) - 519 - -

Property, Plant and Equipment (3) (1) 5 5 2 4

Exploration (33,498) (1,560) 32,608 8,411 (890) 6,851

Trade and other payables (34) (26) - - (34) (26)

Provisions (583) (434) - - (583) (434)

Borrowing costs (105) (190) - - (105) (190)

Capital raising costs - P&L (73) (97) - - (73) (97)

Capital raising costs - Equity (683) (711) - - (683) (711)

Tax losses (5,060) (9,690) - - (5,060) (9,690)

Tax (assets) liabilities (40,039) (13,228) 34,086 12,289 (5,953) (939)

Set off of tax 34,086 12,289 (34,086) (12,289) - -

Net tax (assets)/liabilities (5,953) (939) - - (5,953) (939)

Movement in temporary differences during the year 

Balance  
30 June  

2012

$’000

Recognised 
 In Income

$’000

Recognised 
 In Equity

$’000

Balance 
30 June  

2013

$’000

Recognised 
 In Income

$’000

Recognised 
 In Equity

$’000

Balance 
30 June 

2014

$’000

Inventories - 19 - 19 36 - 55

Hedge assets - - 3,335 3,335 - (1,917) 1,418

Property, Plant and Equipment - 4 - 4 (2) - 2

Exploration 6,224 626 - 6,850 (7,740) - (890)

Trade and other payables (9) (17) - (26) (8) - (34)

Provisions (58) (376) - (434) (150) - (584)

Borrowing costs - (190) - (190) 85 - (105)

Capital raising costs - P&L - (97) - (97) 24 (73)

Capital raising costs - Equity - (32) (679) (711) 291 (262) (682)

Tax losses (6,157) (3,532) - (9,689) 4,629 - (5,060)

- (3,595) 2,656 (939) (2,835) (2,179) (5,953)
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NOTE: 16. ISSUED CAPITAL
2014 

Shares
2014 

$’000
2013 

Shares
2013 

$’000

Issued and paid up capital

Ordinary shares

- Fully paid 163,401,768 94,505 141,866,768 77,427

- Capital raising costs - (4,093) - (3,480)

Total issued and paid up capital 163,401,768 90,412 141,866,768 73,947

Movements in ordinary shares issued

Number 

of Shares

Issue Price

$

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2012 81,312,275 30,398

5 July 2012 Options exercised at 20 cents 314,250 0.200 63

5 Oct 2012 Options exercised at 20 cents 200,000 0.200 40

11 Oct 2012 Shares Issued at 75 cents 12,243,978 0.750 9,183

8 Nov 2012 Shares Issued at 75 cents 28,764,050 0.750 21,573

8 Nov 2012 Shares Issued at 75 cents 16,365,548 0.750 12,274

31 Jan 2013 Shares Issued at 75 cents 2,666,667 0.750 2,000

141,866,768 75,531

Less: Capital raising costs during the year - (1,584)

Balance at 30 June 2013 141,866,768 73,947

Balance at 1 July 2013 141,866,768 73,947

23 Dec 2013 Options exercised at 20 cents 25,000 0.200 5

20 Feb 2014 Options exercised at 20 cents 150,000 0.200 30

21 Feb 2014 Shares Issued at 80 cents 21,285,000 0.800 17,028

11 June 2014 Options exercised at 20 cents 75,000 0.200 15

163,401,768 91,025

Less: Capital raising costs during the year - (613)

Balance at 30 June 2014 163,401,768 90,412

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting in person or by proxy 
is entitled to one vote on a show of hands or by poll.

Capital risk management
The Group’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to sustain the business through exploration, development and 
production.

The capital structure of the Company consists of equity comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTE: 17. RESERVES
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Options reserve 3,490 3,055 

Performance rights reserve 10 -

Fair value reserve – gold hedge 3,310 7,783 

Total reserves 6,810 10,838

Nature and purpose of reserves
a) Options reserve

The options reserve is used to recognise the fair value of all options on issue.

b) Fair value reserve – gold hedge
The fair value reserve in respect of the gold hedge is used to record the change in fair value of the effective portion of the 
financial instrument derivatives used for cash flow hedging net of tax.

Movements in options issued

Number

of Options

Option Price

$

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2012 11,311,738 2,674

Charge on options issued in prior periods 91

5 July 2012 Exercise of options at $0.20 (314,250) - -

1 Oct 2012 Employee options issued 100,000 0.2841 28

5 Oct 2012 Exercise of options at $0.20 (200,000) - -

20 Nov 2012 Employee options issued 2,500,000 0.2071 262

31 Dec 2012 Expiry of options (3,300,000) - -

30 June 2013 Cancellation of options (662,500) - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 9,434,988 3,055

Balance at 1 July 2013 9,434,988 3,055

Charge on options issued in prior periods 131

9 Sept 2013 Employee options issued 100,000 0.2182 22

12 Sept 2013 Cancellation of options (156,700) - -

4 Oct 2013 Cancellation of options (100,000) - -

19 Dec 2013 Employee options issued 3,857,413 0.1384 282

23 Dec 2013 Exercise of options at $0.20 (25,000) - -

31 Dec 2013 Expiry of options (2,000,000) - -

20 Feb 2014 Exercise of options at $0.20 (150,000) - -

31 Mar 2014 Expiry of options (86,750) - -

11 June 2014 Exercise of options at $0.20 (75,000) - -

30 June 2014 Expiry of options (340,750) - -

Balance at 30 June 2014 10,458,201 3,490

Movements in performance rights issued

Number

of Rights

Rights Price

$

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2013 - -

19 Dec 2013 Performance Rights issued 116,626 0.0823 10

Balance at 30 June 2014 116,626 10
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Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values
The grant date fair value of all share-based payment plans, excluding performance rights, was measured based on the Black 
and Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The inputs used in 
the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment plans are the following:

Share option and performance rights plans 2014

Fair value and assumptions Key Management Personnel Employees

Rights
Options 

Tranche 1
Options 

Tranche 2 Options

Number granted 116,626 100,000 299,500 3,552,663

Fair value at grant date

Share price at grant date $0.6300 $0.6600 $0.5800 $0.5800

Exercise price $0.0000 $1.0300 $0.8300 $0.8300

Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 59% 54% 59% 59%

Life 2.59 years 4 years 2 years 2 years

Expected dividends - - - -

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 3.03% 4.07% 4.27% 4.27%

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Employee expenses

Share options granted to employees in 2011 - 19

Share options granted to Key Management Personnel in 2012 7 24

Share options granted to employees in 2012 4 56

Share options granted to Key Management Personnel in 2013 32 78

Share options granted to employees in 2013 120 205

Share options granted to Key Management Personnel in 2014 22 -

Share options granted to employees in 2014 250 -

Performance rights granted to directors in 2014 10

Total share-based payment expense recognised 445 382

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

2014

Number of 
options

2014

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

2013

Number of 
options

2013

Outstanding at the beginning of the year $1.08 9,434,988 $1.43 11,311,738

Forfeited during the year $1.10 (678,950) $1.42 (662,500)

Exercised during the year $0.20 (250,000) $0.20 (514,250)

Expired during the year $2.37 (2,000,000) $2.32 (3,300,000)

Granted during the year $0.84 3,952,163 $1.11 2,600,000

Outstanding at the end of the year $0.76 10,458,201 $1.08 9,434,988

Exercisable at the end of the year $0.72 6,876,288 $1.06 7,261,488
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The options outstanding at 30 June 2014 have an exercise price in the range of $0.20 to $2.08 (2013: $0.20 to $2.56) and a 
weighted average contractual life of 0.87 years (2013: 1.21 years).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in 2014 was $0.82 (2013: $0.90).

At 30 June 2014, options over unissued shares are as follows:

Expiry date Exercise Price
Number under 

option

3 September 2014 $0.20 2,432,488

14 September 2014 $1.14 150,000

4 February 2015 $0.20 1,250,000

31 March 2015 $1.20 250,000

31 October 2015 $1.65 175,000

12 December 2015 $2.03 50,000

5 December 2015 $2.08 100,000

1 March 2016 $2.00 255,000

28 February 2016 $1.93 150,000

10 April 2016 $1.79 150,000

20 November 2014 $1.10 1,813,800

9 September 2017 $1.03 100,000

19 December 2015 $0.83 3,581,913

10,458,201

NOTE: 18. SEGMENT REPORTING 
The accounting policies used by the Company in reporting segments are in accordance with the measurement principles of 
Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial information presented to the directors is organised to show financial information for the Group and is not further 
disaggregated. Hence management consider the Group as a whole to be one operating segment. The Group’s operations are 
based in Australia and its customers are the Perth Mint and its bankers.

NOTE: 19. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Per the terms of the Share Sale Agreement between the Company and the vendor of Murchison Resources Pty Ltd for the 
purchase of the remaining 20% interest in the Andy Well Gold Project, the Company will pay a 1% Net Smelter Royalty on 
production from the acquired tenements in excess of 262,246 ounces of gold. If the Company were to produce 305,233 
ounces of gold from the Project, it would have to pay approximately $655,000 in royalties to the vendors of Murchison 
Resources Pty Ltd (assuming a gold price of A$1,520). The royalty is contingent on the Project producing in excess of 262,246 
ounces of gold and has therefore not been booked at the reporting date.

There are no other contingent assets or liabilities at year end.
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NOTE: 20. COMMITMENTS 
Exploration Expenditure Commitments
In order to maintain the current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Group has the following exploration expenditure 
requirements up until the expiry of the leases. These obligations, which are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the leases, 
are not provided for in the financial statements and are payable as follows:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Not longer than one year 2,472 2,319

Longer than one year, but not longer than five years - -

Longer than five years - -

Total 2,472 2,319

This expenditure is required to be incurred over a period of years, but management intends to expend it within the next 
financial year.

If the Group decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet the obligations, assets recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying values. The sale, transfers or farm-out of 
exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish the above obligations.

Finance Leases

Included in the financial statements (note 14) as:

Current borrowings 743 408

Non-current borrowings 698 487

1,441 895

Finance Lease Commitments

Lease Payments 1,548 980

Less: Future Interest Charges (107) (85)

1,441 895

Not longer than one year 743 462

Longer than one year, but not longer than five years 805 518

Longer than five years - -

Total 1,548 980

Operating Lease Commitments
Minimum operating lease commitments contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements are payable as follows:

Not longer than one year 1,116 236

Longer than one year, but not longer than five years 2,612 58

Longer than five years - -

Total 3,728 294

Capital Expenditure commitments

Infrastructure 4,750 330
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NOTE: 21. BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with the dilutive potential ordinary shares and 
the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. The total number of options is not considered dilutive to the loss per share as the Group is in a loss 
making position.

a) Reconciliation of earnings to loss

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders (5,648) (8,394)

Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS (5,648) (8,394)

b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period used to calculate basic EPS

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
 during the period used in calculating basic and diluted EPS 149,459,686 120,586,188

NOTE: 22. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to loss after income tax:

Loss after income tax (5,648) (8,394)

Non-cash flows in loss

- Depreciation 10,612 385

- Amortisation 27,906 134

- Share-based payment expense 445 382

- Annual leave expense 364 117

- Impairment expense 32,004 -

- Exploration expenditure written off 382 7,810

66,065 434

Changes in assets and liabilities:

- (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (470) 44

- (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (41) 34

- (Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,898) (3,172)

- (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (5,014) -

- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (946) 9,562

- Increase/(decrease) in provisions 1,074 10

- Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities - (3,595)

Cash inflow from operating activities 57,770 3,317
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NOTE: 23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Doray Minerals Limited has advanced the following funds to its subsidiaries by way of intergroup loans:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Andy Well Mining Pty Ltd 40,962 50,512

Murchison Resources Pty Ltd 225 -

Meehan Minerals Pty Ltd 41 -

41,228 50,512

The amounts outstanding will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received in respect of the advances.

Transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries were eliminated in the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

Transactions with Directors and their related entities are disclosed in Note 24.

NOTE: 24. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

a) Directors and Key Management Personnel

Names and positions held of Directors and other Key Management Personnel in office during the year were:
Mr Peter Alexander Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Allan Kelly Managing Director
Mr Heath Hellewell Executive Director – Exploration and New Business (resigned 30 June 2014)
Mr Jay Stephenson Non-Executive Director
Mr Leigh Junk Non-Executive Director 
Mr Mark Cossom Development Manager
Mr Peter Bamford General Manager – Operations
Mr Jon Latto Chief Financial Officer (appointed 9 September 2013)
Mr Grant Dyker Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 July 2012, resigned 17 June 2013)

b) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Short term employee benefits 1,948 1,931

Post-employment benefits 173 162

Equity 98 103

Other payments 17 -

2,236 2,196

Other transactions with Directors
There were no loans made to Directors during the financial year 30 June 2014. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

66

D
O

R
AY

 M
IN

ER
A

LS
 L

IM
IT

ED
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

EP
O

RT
  2

0
14



c) Equity Instruments Disclosure Relating to Key Management Personnel

The number of shares and options held by Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Company, including their 
personally related parties, are set out below:
SHARES

2014 
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2013

Granted as 
compensation

Options 
Exercised

Bought 
& (Sold)

Balance at 
30 June 2014

Mr Peter Alexander

Indirect1 24,000 - - - 24,000

Mr Allan Kelly

Direct 7,584,156 - - (216,049) 7,368,107

Indirect2 2,659,477 - - 216,049 2,875,526

Mr Heath Hellewell

Direct 31,829 - - - 31,829

Indirect3 5,045,836 - - - 5,045,836

Mr Jay Stephenson

Indirect4 76,116 - - (47,344) 28,772

Mr Leigh Junk

Indirect5 60,000 - - - 60,000

Mr Mark Cossom

Direct 45,000 - - (40,000) 5,000

Mr Peter Bamford

Direct 105,227 - - - 105,227

Indirect 525,200 - - - 525,200

Total 16,156,841 - - (87,344) 16,069,497

2013 
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2012

Granted as 
compensation

Options 
Exercised

Bought 
& (Sold)

Balance at 
30 June 2013

Mr Peter Alexander

Indirect1 20,000 - - 4,000 24,000

Mr Allan Kelly

Direct 7,500,823 - - 83,333* 7,584,156

Indirect2 2,547,800 - - 111,677* 2,659,477

Mr Heath Hellewell

Direct 31,829 - - - 31,829

Indirect3 5,045,836 - - - 5,045,836

Mr Jay Stephenson

Indirect4 63,429 - - 12,687 76,116

Mr Leigh Junk

Indirect5 50,000 - - 10,000 60,000

Mr Mark Cossom

Direct 15,406 - - 29,594 45,000

Mr Peter Bamford

Direct - - - 105,227 105,227

Indirect 21,000 - - 504,200 525,200

Total 15,296,123 - - 860,718 16,156,841
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*Includes transfer from Direct holding to Indirect holding of 216,049 shares (2013: 50,000 shares).

1 These shares are held by Suzanne Alexander, spouse of Mr Peter Alexander.
2 These shares are held by the following personally related parties of Mr Allan Kelly:

• XGS Exploration Geochemistry Services Pty Ltd
• Debnal Pty Ltd

3 These shares are held by the following personally related parties of Mr Heath Hellewell:
• Nedlands Nominees Pty Ltd
• Neogold Enterprises Pty Ltd

4 These shares are held by the following personally related parties of Mr Jay Stephenson:
• Almamater Pty Ltd
• Pazzia Pty Ltd
• Wolfstar Group Pty Ltd

5 These shares are held by the following personally related party of Mr Leigh Junk:
• Jolee Corporation Pty Ltd

OPTIONS

2014 
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2013

Granted as 
compensation

Received during 
the period

Net other 
change

Balance at  
30 June 2014

Mr Peter Alexander

Direct2 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -

Mr Allan Kelly

Direct - - - - -

Indirect1 1,250,000 - - - 1,250,000

Mr Heath Hellewell

Direct - - - - -

Mr Jay Stephenson

Direct 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

Mr Leigh Junk

Indirect2 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -

Mr Mark Cossom3 520,000 127,500 - - 647,500

Mr Peter Bamford3 350,000 172,000 - - 522,000

Mr Grant Dyker4 100,000 - - (100,000) -

Mr Jon Latto5 - 100,000 - - 100,000

Total 5,220,000 399,500 - (2,100,000) 3,519,500

1 These options, held by Debnal Pty Ltd, one of Mr. Allan Kelly’s personally related parties, are exercisable at 20 cents 
each on or before 4 February 2015.

2 These options expired on 31 December 2013.
3 These options were granted on 19 December 2013 for no consideration under the terms of the Employee Share Option 

Plan. These options are exercisable at $0.83 each on or before 19 December 2015, vesting on 19 December 2014. The 
exercise price was calculated at 140% of the 5 day VWAP preceding the date of issue.

4 These options were cancelled following the resignation of Mr Dyker.
5 100,000 options were issued to Mr Latto on 9 September 2013 for no consideration per the terms and conditions of his 

employment contract and were restricted for 3 months at the Company’s discretion. These options are exercisable at 
$1.03 each on or before 9 September 2017. The exercise price was calculated at 150% of the average trading price of 
the Company on the five business days immediately preceding Mr Latto’s commencement date of 9 September 2013. 
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PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

2014 
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2013

Granted as 
compensation

Received during 
the period

Net other 
change

Balance at  
30 June 2014

Mr Allan Kelly

Direct - 116,626 - - 116,626

Mr Heath Hellewell

Direct1 - 103,170 - (103,170) -

Total - 219,796 - (103,170) 116,626

1 Mr Hellewell resigned on 30 June 2014. As a result his rights were cancelled as the vesting conditions linked to the 
rights could not be met.

OPTIONS

2013 
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2012

Granted as 
compensation

Received during 
the period

Net other 
change

Balance at  
30 June 2013

Mr Peter Alexander

Direct 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

Mr Allan Kelly

Direct 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -

Indirect1 1,250,000 - - - 1,250,000

Mr Heath Hellewell

Direct 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -

Mr Jay Stephenson

Direct 1,650,000 - - (650,000) 1,000,000

Mr Leigh Junk

Indirect2 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

Mr Mark Cossom3 325,000 195,000 - - 520,000

Mr Peter Bamford3 150,000 200,000 - - 350,000

Mr Grant Dyker4 - 320,000 - (220,000) 100,000

Total 7,375,000 715,000 - (2,870,000) 5,220,000

NOTE: 25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk, commodity price risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Risk management is carried out by the Board as a whole and while no formal risk management policy has been adopted, one 
is in the process of development. 

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,656 25,700

Trade and other receivables 6 -

Derivative financial assets 4,728 11,118

20,390 36,818

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 20,160 19,622

Borrowings 15,362 56,050

35,522 75,672
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(a) Market risk

(i) Price risk
The Group’s derivative financial assets are currently exposed to commodity price risk, namely a change in gold price, 
which act to offset any change in the future cash flows from the sale of gold. 

(ii) Fair value interest rate risk
Refer to (d) below.

(b) Credit risk

Credit exposure represents the extent of credit related losses that the Group may be subject to on amounts to be 
received from financial assets. Credit risk arises principally from receivables on the sale of gold to Perth Mint or banks, 
bank deposits and derivative financial assets. The objective of the Group is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk 
through dealings with banks which have a minimum AA- credit rating with Standard & Poor’s. The Group’s maximum 
credit risk is limited to the carrying value of its financial assets as indicated on the statement of financial position.

The credit quality of the financial assets was high during the period. The table below details the credit quality of the 
financial assets at the end of the period:

Credit 
Quality

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Financial assets

Interest-bearing deposit High 15,656 25,700

Derivative financial instrument High 4,728 11,118

 Amounts deposited against bank guarantees High - -

 Loans to other entities/third parties High - -

 Interest income receivable High - -

20,384 36,818

No impairment losses have been recorded on the amounts receivable from third parties at 30 June 2014.

 (c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The objective of 
the Group is to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet commitments under normal and stressed conditions.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
maintaining adequate reserves of liquidity.

The Group did not have access to any undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting arrangements.

$’000
Carrying 

Amount
Contractual 

Cash flows < 3 months 3-6 months 6-24 months

Trade and other payables 
and borrowings:

At 30 June 2014 35,522 35,522 18,160 4,288 13,074

At 30 June 2013 75,672 75,672 20,762 5,141 49,769
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(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

From time to time the Group has significant interest bearing assets, but they are as a result of the timing of equity raising and 
capital expenditure rather than a reliance on interest income. The interest rate risk arises on the rise and fall of interest rates. 

The Group’s interest rate profile is set out below:

$’000
Floating 

interest rate
Non-interest 

bearing 
Fixed 

rate
2014 
Total

Floating 
interest rate

Non-interest 
bearing 

Fixed 
rate

2013 
Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,656 - - 15,656 25,700 - - 25,700

Receivables - - - - - - - -

15,656 - - 15,656 25,700 - - 25,700

Weighted average interest rate 3.06% 3.11%

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other creditors - 20,160 - 20,160 - 19,614 - 19,614

Finance lease liabilities - - 1,441 1,441 - - 895 895

Insurance Premium - - 70 70 - - 155 155

Bank loans 13,851 - - 13,851 55,000 - - 55,000

13,851 20,160 1,511 35,522 55,000 19,614 1,050 75,664

Weighted average. interest rate 5.94% 6.79%

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate instruments at fair value through profit or loss and therefore a change in 
interest rates at period end would not affect profit or loss.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at 
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 

liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

$’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative Financial Asset - 4,728 - 4,728

Total - 4,728 - 4,728

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or decreased the Group’s 
equity and profit or loss by $18,050 (2013: $293,015).

(e) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and short term non-interest bearing monetary assets and financial 
liabilities approximates their carrying values.

(f) Gold price and foreign exchange risk 

Gold price risk arises from the risk of an adverse effect on current or future earnings resulting from fluctuations in the price 
of gold. The Group will have transactional foreign exchange exposures, which will arise from sales or purchases by the group 
in currencies other than the group’s functional currency. The gold market is predominately priced in US dollars which exposes 
the group to the risk that fluctuations in the Australian dollar/US dollar exchange rate may also have an adverse effect on 
current or future earnings. The Group is also exposed to certain by-product commodity price risk, namely silver. 

During the year, the Group utilised forward gold exchange contracts as part of its hedging of these risks. In January 2013, 
the Company undertook a gold hedging programme comprising the forward sale of 45,000 ounces at an average price 
of A$1,620 ounces over the first 14 months of production, equating to approximately 50% of total production from the 
Andy Well Gold Project over this period. The Company undertook further hedging in March 2014 comprising the forward 
sale of an additional 39,651 ounces at an average price of A$1,505.50 per ounce over the period October 2014 to 
September 2015. A A$100 per ounce increase in the spot price of gold with all other variables being held constant at 
period end would have increased equity by $4,986,600 and vice versa.

The Group has designated these contracts as cash flow hedges. In the period there was no ineffectiveness in respect of 
these hedges.
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NOTE: 26. SUBSIDIARIES 
Ownership Interest

2014 2013

Subsidiaries

Doray Gold Operations Pty Ltd 100% 100%

Andy Well Mining Pty Ltd 100% 100%

Meehan Minerals Pty Ltd 100% 100%

Murchison Resources Pty Ltd 100% 100%

NOTE: 27. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Group, Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd and its related practices for audit 
and non-audit services provided during the period are set out below.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Auditors Services 

Audit and review of financial reports (Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd) 56 49

Other Services

Secretarial Services (Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd) - -

Taxation services (Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd) - -

- -

NOTE: 28. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

(a) Information relating to Doray Minerals Limited

Results of the parent entity

Profit/(loss) for the period (13,300) 2,559

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (13,300) 2,559

Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 8,208 6,661

Non-current assets 74,598 78,866

Total assets 82,806 85,527

Current liabilities 6,079 8,420

Non-current liabilities - 4,000

Total liabilities 6,079 12,420

Net assets 76,727 73,107

Issued capital 90,412 73,947

Reserves 3,498 3,053

Accumulated losses (17,193) (3,893)

Total equity 76,727 73,107
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(b) Details of any guarantees entered into by parent entity in relation to the debts of subsidiaries

Doray Minerals Limited, together with Doray Gold Operations Pty Ltd, act as guarantors of Andy Well Pty Ltd’s bank 
borrowings.

(c) Details of any contingent liabilities of the parent

Per the terms of the Share Sale Agreement between Doray and the vendor of Murchison Resources Pty Ltd for the 
purchase of the remaining 20% interest in the Andy Well Gold Project, Doray will pay a 1% Net Smelter Royalty on 
production from the acquired tenements in excess of 262,246 ounces of gold. If Doray were to produce 305,233 ounces 
of gold from the Project, it would have to pay approximately $655,000 in royalties to the vendors of Murchison 
Resources Pty Ltd. The royalty is contingent on the Project producing in excess of 262,246 ounces of gold and has 
therefore not been booked.

(d) Details of any contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of plant and equipment

There are no contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of plant and equipment.

(e) Tax Consolidation

The Group and its 100%-controlled entities have formed a tax consolidation group. 

NOTE: 29. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Doray announced on 16 July 2014 that it had entered into an agreement to acquire a majority interest in the Gnaweeda 
Project, currently held by Archean Star Resources Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of TSX-V listed Transatlantic Mining Corporation. The 
project is located approximately 10km south-east of Doray’s Andy Well Gold Project and presents an opportunity to provide 
additional, high-grade ore sources for Andy Well in the short term.

On 18 August 2014, the Company announced that, based on a review of the carrying value of non-current assets as at 30 
June 2014, an impairment charge would be made, the final dollar amount of which would be finalised as part of the process of 
finalising the financial statements as at 30 June 2014. 

On 2 September 2014, Doray announced the appointment of Mr Peter Lester to the Board as a Non-Executive Director.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or could 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.
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1. In the opinion of the Directors of Doray Minerals Limited (‘the Group’):

(a)  the financial statements and notes as set out on pages 42 to 73, and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ 
Report as set out on pages 33 to 41, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the 

year ended on that date; and
(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 

Corporations Regulations 2001; 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2(a); 

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable; and

(d)  the remuneration disclosures that are set out on pages 37 to 40 of the Directors’ Report comply with the Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

2.  The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Dated at Perth on 30th of September 2014.

Peter Alexander
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Auditor’s independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To the directors of Doray Minerals Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2014 there has been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor’s independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd 

Amar Nathwani
Director 

30 September 2014 
Perth

75

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION



Independent auditor’s report to the members of Doray Minerals Limited 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Doray Minerals Limited which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies, other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the 
Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In Note 2(a), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of Doray Minerals Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of 
this auditor’s report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF DORAY MINERALS LIMITED



Opinion

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Doray Minerals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the consolidated financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 2(a). 

Report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Doray Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014 complies 
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Nexia Perth Audit Services Pty Ltd 

Amar Nathwani 
Director 

30 September 2014 
Perth
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The following additional information is required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd in respect of listed public 
companies only.

Shareholding as at 24 September 2014
Distribution of Shareholders 

Range Number of Shares Number of Holders

1 – 1,000 283,761 503

1,001 – 5,000 3,294,807 1,095

5,001 – 10,000 4,786,004 605

10,001 – 100,000 28,193,033 942

100,001 – and over 129,276,651 108

165,834,256 3,253

The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 363.

Voting Rights
The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows:

Ordinary shares
• Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or by proxy 

has one vote on a show of hands.

20 Largest Shareholders — Ordinary Shares as at 24 September 2014

Name
Number of Ordinary 

Fully Paid Shares Held
% Held of Issued 
Ordinary Capital

1. NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 19,656,813 11.85

2. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 18,912,921 11.40

3. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 14,316,059 8.63

4. J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 9,887,793 5.96

5. MR ALLAN KELLY <KELLY FAMILY A/C> 7,358,107 4.44

6. LION SELECTION GROUP LIMITED 7,304,394 4.40

7. UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,399,093 2.65

8. MR WALTER SCOTT WILSON + MRS MARIA ANDREA WILSON 2,800,000 1.69

9. DEBNAL PTY LTD 2,500,000 1.51

10. NEDLANDS NOMINEES PTY LTD <WINDANDSEA INVESTMENTS A/C> 2,500,000 1.51

11. YARANDI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <GRIFFITH FAMILY NO 2 A/C> 2,445,715 1.47

12. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <NT-COMNWLTH 
SUPER CORP A/C> 2,376,629 1.43

13. GEARED INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <INVESTMENT A/C> 2,190,186 1.32

14. AMP LIFE LIMITED 1,841,427 1.11

15. FINANCE ASSOCIATES PTY LTD <SUPER FUND A/C> 1,750,000 1.06

16. RBC INVESTOR SERVICES AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 
<PISELECT> 1,294,387 0.78

17. PERMGOLD PTY LTD <SECKOLD FAMILY S/F A/C> 1,110,688 0.67

18. BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 1,088,173 0.66

19. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <COLONIAL FIRST STATE INV A/C> 1,086,006 0.65

20. MR JAY RICHARD STEPHENSON 912,500 0.55

105,730,891 63.76
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The name of the Company Secretary is Iain Garrett.

The address of the principal registered office in Australia is Level 3, 41-43 Ord Street, West Perth WA 6005. 
Telephone (08) 9226 0600.

Registers of securities are held at the following addresses
Western Australia Computershare Registry Services 
Level 2, 45 St Georges Terrace
PERTH WA 6000 

Stock Exchange Listing
Quotation has been granted for all the ordinary shares of the Group on all Member Exchanges of ASX Limited.

Unquoted Securities
Options over Unissued Shares
A total of 7,654,213 options are on issue of which 1,250,000 options are on issue to Directors.

Use of Funds
The Group has used its funds in accordance with its initial business objectives.

79



AS AT 30 JUNE 2014
Lease  Status Project Name Expiry Date Ownership

South Australia

EL4302 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Nuckulla Hill 24/08/2014 Doray 100%

EL4407 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Nuckulla Hill 23/12/2014 Doray 100%

EL4473 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Nuckulla Hill 26/04/2015 Doray 100%

EL4846 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Pimba 17/04/2016 Doray 100%

EL4847 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Streaky Bay 17/04/2016 Doray 100%

EL5295 Granted SA_Nuckulla_Hill Toondulya 26/06/2015 Doray 100%

EL5294 Granted SA_Whitehole_Hill Whitehole Hill 25/06/2015 Doray 100%

EL5310 Granted SA_ Nuckulla_Hill Narlaby Tank 23/07/2015 Doray 100%

EL5364 Granted SA_Buckleboo Buckleboo 06/01/2016 Doray 100%

EL4788 Granted SA_Harris Bluff Harris Bluff 18/10/2015 Doray 49%

EL5405 Granted SA_Pinkawillinie Pinkawillinie 01/05/2016 Doray 100%

ELA 2012/333 Application SA_Fowlers_Bay Fowlers Bay - Doray 100%

ELA 2013/179 Application SA_ Buckleboo Buckelboo West - Doray 100%

ELA 2014/046 Application SA_ Nuckulla_Hill Lake Everard - Doray 100%

Western Australia

E51/1334 Granted WA_Abbotts Abernathy 21/07/2015 Doray 80%

P51/2578 Granted WA_Abbotts Granite Well 06/09/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2579 Granted WA_Abbotts Granite Well 06/09/2017 Doray 80%

E51/1217 Granted WA_Andy Well Breakaway Bore 21/01/2018 Doray 100%

M51/870 Granted WA_Andy Well Andy Well 26/04/2033 Doray 100%

E51/1407 Granted WA_Side Well Red Tank Well 25/03/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2573 Granted WA_Side Well Sherwood 20/05/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2574 Granted WA_Side Well Sherwood 20/05/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2575 Granted WA_Side Well Sherwood 20/05/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2576 Granted WA_Side Well Sherwood 20/05/2017 Doray 80%

P51/2577 Granted WA_Side Well Sherwood 20/05/2017 Doray 80%

E51/1218 Granted WA_Side Well Five Mile East 21/01/2018 Doray 80%

E21/154 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Webbs 22/07/2018 Doray 100%

E21/135 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Hillend Well 04/03/2015 Doray 100%

E21/139 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Hillend West 06/01/2016 Doray 100%

P21/696 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Pinnacle 18/03/2018 Doray 100%

P21/697 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Pinnacles 18/03/2018 Doray 100%

P21/698 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Pinnacles 18/03/2018 Doray 100%

P21/699 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Pinnacles 18/03/2018 Doray 100%

P21/700 Granted WA_Webbs Patch Pinnacles 18/03/2018 Doray 100%
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Lease  Status Project Name Expiry Date Ownership

Western Australia

M51/390 Granted WA_Abbotts_West Mt Vranizan 11/03/2033 Doray 100%

E51/1043 Granted WA_Abbotts_West Chunderoo 10/03/2015 Doray 100%

E51/1277 Granted WA_Abbotts_West Mt Opal 30/06/2016 Doray 100%

E51/1278 Granted WA_Abbotts_West Clarke Pool 30/06/2016 Doray 100%

M51/567 Granted WA_Abbotts_West Crescent 01/05/2033 Doray 100%

M51/530 Granted WA_Meekatharra_East Bourkes North 07/02/2014 Doray 100%

M51/565 Granted WA_Meekatharra_East Tal Val 03/04/2014 Doray 100%

M51/831 Granted WA_Meekatharra_East Golden Bracelet 17/11/2031 Doray 100%

M51/848 Granted WA_Meekatharra_East Fishers East 17/11/2031 Doray 100%

E51/960 Granted WA_Yagahong Marsh Bore 13/09/2014 Doray 100%

P51/2667 Granted WA_Yagahong New Australia West 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2668 Granted WA_Yagahong Yorkes Bore 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2669 Granted WA_Yagahong Yorkes Bore South 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2670 Granted WA_Yagahong Road Mill 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2671 Granted WA_Yagahong Sandstone Road 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2672 Granted WA_Yagahong Sandstone Road East 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2673 Granted WA_Yagahong Star Bore 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2674 Granted WA_Yagahong Star Bore West 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2675 Granted WA_Yagahong McDonald Well 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2676 Granted WA_Yagahong Polelle Station 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2677 Granted WA_Yagahong Marsh Bore West 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2705 Granted WA_Yagahong Albury Heath East 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2706 Granted WA_Yagahong Albury Heath North 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2707 Granted WA_Yagahong Albury Heath West 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2712 Granted WA_Yagahong Polelle East 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2713 Granted WA_Yagahong Polelle East 02/07/2016 Doray 100%

P51/2832 Application WA_Meeka_East Bourkes South - Doray 100%

E51/1577 Application WA_Gnaweeda Gnaweeda South - Doray 100%

E51/1594 Application WA_Andy _Well_North Yalgar - Doray 100%

E51/1595 Application WA_Andy _Well_North Scotty Well - Doray 100%

E51/1596 Application WA_Andy _Well_North Poplar - Doray 100%

E51/1609 Application WA_Abbotts_West West Abbotts - Doray 100%

E09/2034 Granted WA_Carnarvon_Sands Carnarvon - Meehan 100%

E80/4821 Application WA_Pollock_Hill Mt Webb Nth - Meehan 100%

E80/4822 Application WA_Pollock_Hill Lake Mackay West - Meehan 100%

E80/4823 Application WA_Pollock_Hill Mt Webb - Meehan 100%
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